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Genenta Science S.p.A. Reports Financial Results for the Six Months Ended June 30, 2023

Genenta Science S.p.A. (“Genenta”) is furnishing this report on Form 6-K to provide its unaudited consolidated financial statements as of June 30, 2023,
and for the six months ended June 30, 2023, and June 30, 2022, and to provide its Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations with respect to such financial statements.

The unaudited consolidated financial statements as of June 30, 2023, and for the six months ended June 30, 2023, and June 30, 2022, are attached to this
Form 6-K as Exhibit 99.1. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations is attached to this Form 6-K as Exhibit
99.2.

As described in more detail in Note 14, Subsequent events to the financial statements attached as Exhibit 99.1 hereto, (i) on August 1, 2023, Genenta
entered into a Sponsored Research Agreement (the “CP1 SRA”) with Ospedale San Raffaele S.r.l. (“OSR”) to perform certain feasibility studies
contemplated under the Company’s amended and restated license agreement with OSR (the “ARLA”), and (ii) on September 28, 2023, Genenta and OSR
entered into a related amendment to the ARLA.

The descriptions of the CP1 SRA and the amendment to the ARLA contained in this Form 6-K and in Exhibits 99.1 and 99.2 hereto do not purport to be
complete and are qualified in their entirety by reference to the complete text thereof, copies of which are filed as exhibits 10.1 and 10.2, respectively, to this
Form 6-K.

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Title
10.17 Sponsored Research Agreement between Genenta Science S.p.A. and Ospedale San Raffaele S.r.l. dated August 1, 2023

10.2F Amendment to Amended and Restated License Agreement between Genenta Science S.p.A. and Ospedale San Raffaele S.r.l. dated September

28,2023
99.1 Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements as of June 30, 2023, and for the six months ended June 30, 2023, and June 30, 2022.
99.2 Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
101 The following materials from Genenta’s Report on Form 6-K for the six months ended June 30, 2023, formatted in Inline XBRL (eXtensible

Business Reporting Language): (i) the Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss,
(iii) the Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity, (iv) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and (v) Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

T Portions of this exhibit (indicated with markouts) have been redacted in accordance with Item 601(b)(10)(iv).




SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

GENENTA SCIENCE S.P.A.

Date: October 20, 2023 By: /s/ Pierluigi Paracchi
Pierluigi Paracchi, Chief Executive Officer




SPONSORED RESEARCH AGREEMENT

This Sponsored Research Agreement ("Agreement”), effective as of the date of
the last signature hereto (“Effective Date™), is made

Between

Ospedale San Raffaele S.r.l., an Italian company having registered office at via
Olgettina No. 60, 20132, Milan, Ttaly, Fiscal Code 07636600962, duly represented for the
purposes hereof by its Chief Executive Officer, Marco Centenari (*OSR"™)

= on the one side -
and

Genenta Science 5.p.A., an [talian company having registered office atvia Olgettina No.
58, 20132, Milan, Italy, Fiscal Code 08738490063, duly represented for the purposes
hereof by its Chief Executive Officer, Pierluigi Paracchi ("Genenta” or “Sponsor”)

- her side =

(OS8R and Genenta shall be, collectively but not jointly, defined as the “Parties™ and,
severally, a “Party”).
WHEREAS:

a) OSR and Genenta have entered into an Amendment and Restated License
Agreement ("ARLA") come into foree on April 20, 2023,

b) The Parties identified in the ALBA two Candidate Products on which perform
certain feasibility studies, under a Sponsored Research Agreement funded by
Genenta;

¢) Genenta desires to fund the research activities related to one of the Candidate
Products identify in the ARLA and additional research projects conducted at OSE,
namely:

-  Combination between TEM-mediated IFN-g gene therapy and anti-
angiogenic therapy (“Research Project 1” or “RP1”) and

- Combination between TEM-mediated IFN-a gene therapy and immune
checkpoint blockers (“Research Project 2" or “RP2") and

- Exploring the use of non-genotoxic conditioning in the context of TEM-
mediated IFN-a delivery for the treatment of solid tumors (“Research
Praoject 37 or “RP3”).

in accordance with the terms and conditions set out in the ARLA, for what related
to the Candidate Product, and to this Agreement

Exhibit 10.1




d) The research projects mentioned above are of mutual interest to Genenta and OSR,

also in relation to the scope of the rights and licenses granted to Genenta under the
ARLA,

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and mutual covenants

contained herein, and intending to be legally bound hereby, the Parties hereto agree as
follows:

1

1.1

L2

1.3

1.4

1.6
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1.8

AGREEMENT

DEFINITIONS

“Affiliate” means, with respect to any person or entity, any other person or entity
which directly or indirectly controls, is controlled by or is under common control
with such person or entity, during the term of such control. A person or entity will
be deemed to be “controlled” by any other person or entity if such other person or
entity (a) possesses, directly or indivectly, power to direct or cause the direction of
the management and policies of such person or entity whether by contract or
otherwise, (b) has direct or indirect ownership of fifty percent (50%) or more (in
the aggregate) of the voting power of all outstanding shares entitled to vole at a
general election of directors of the person or entity or (c) has direct or indirect
ownership of fifty percent (50%) or more of the equity intevests in a partnership or
a limited liability company.

“Candidate Product 17 has the meaning set forth in the ARLA.

“Candidate Product {(CP) Option Period” has the meaning set forth in the
ARLA.

“Field of Use” has the meaning set forth in the ARLA, subject to possible
restrictions pursuant to Section 2.2 (h) of the ARLA.

“Option 1”7 and "Optioned IP1"” have the meaning set forth in the ARTA.

“"OSR Background TP" means such intellectual property rights (i) owned by OSR
as at the Effective Date including the patent application listed in Exhibit C and/or
(i) related to results generated by or on behalf of the OSR following to the Effective
Date other than in the performance of the Sponsored Research.

“DSR Inventions" means all Inventions conceived, made, created, developed
during the Term, in the performance of the Sponsored Research.

“Invention” means any discovery, invention, creation, improvement or
modification, whether or not patentable, including, but not limited to, processes,
methods, formulas, technical information, materials, compositions, formulas,
biological materials, assays, compounds, techniques, computer software and
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1.14
1.15

1.16

documentation, data and know-how, together with any patent, copyright or other
intellectual property rights therein.

"Licensed Product” has the meaning set forth in the ARLA.
“Negotiation Period” has the meaning set forth in Seetion 6.4,
“Option” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.4.

“Option Notice” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.4.

“Option Period” shall mean the term starting on the Effective Date of this
Agreement and ending upon & months after the filing to Genenta of the final report,

“OSE Product Improvements™ has the meaning set forth in the ARLA.

“Research Plan” means each research plan set forth in Exhibit A in relation to
RP1, BEP2 and to RP3.

“Research Results” means all data and information generated in the
performance of the Sponsored Research and any research reports furnished to
Sponsor under this Agreement, including OSR Inventions, descriptions of
experiments conducted under the Research Plans and corresponding analyses and
conclusions,

2 SPONSORED RESEARCH

2.1

23

0OSR shall perform the RP1, RP2, and the RP3 (jointly “Sponsored Research”),
in accordance with the Research Plan and the terms and conditions of this
Agreement. The Parties agree that OSR, after consultation with Sponsor, shall be
entitled to subcontract the performance of the activities under the Research Plans
to third parties.

The Research Plan may be modified only upon mutual written agreement of
Sponsor and O5R.

OS5R principal investigators, for all the BPs, shall be [N -~ I

(“Principal Investigator{s)”). In the event that a Principal
Investigator becomes unavailable to OSR for any reason, OSRE shall be entitled to
designate another member of its faculty who is reasonably acceptable to Sponsaor
to serve as Principal Investigator of the applicable Sponsored Research. If a
substitute Principal Investigator has not been designated within sixty (60) days
after the Principal Investigator has ceased its services under this Agreement,
Sponsor may terminate this Agreement upon written notice thereof o OSR,
stbject to the provisions of Section ¢ (and provided that OSE shall in no event be
held liable to Sponsor for such termination).

3 FUNDING AND PAYMENT

3.1

In relation to the conduct of the Sponsored Research, Sponsor shall pay to OSR an
amount equal to [ lGnclusive of all fees, overhead and costs ineurred for
performance of the Sponsored Research), as sel forth in the payment schedule




3.3

3.4

attached hereto as Exhibit B. Amounts paid by Sponsor to OSR pursuant to Exhibit
B shall be paid in Euros, The amounts mentioned under Exhibit B are exclusive of
VAT, which shall be added to all payments as applicable.

If at any time OSR determines that it will require additional funds for the
Sponsored Research, it shall notify Sponsor and provide an estimate of the
additional costs for completing the Sponsored Research and the Parties shall in
good faith negotiate an amendment to the Research Plan in the event that such
inerease of the budget is agreed upon by the Parties in accordance with Section 2.2,

Witheut prejudice to Section 9.2 below, any amount required to be paid by a Party
hereunder which is not paid on the date due shall bear interest at a rate equal to
the thirty (30) day Euribor rate, divisor 365, effeetive for the date that the payment
was due, we reported by “I1 Sole 24 Ore” p]us-:uer cent

All payments set forth by this Agreement shall be made through bank transfer to
the bank account indicated by OSE in writing.

4 RECORDS, RESEARCH RESULTS AND REPORTS

4.1

4.2

During the 30 days from the expiry of each four (4) month period after the Effective
Date, OSR shall deliver to Sponsor a written summary (including in the form of a
power paint presentation) of the activities conducted under each Research Project
(i.e., for the avoidance of doubt, a written summary related to each RP) and all
Research Results obtained during the applicable reporting period in relation to the
applicable Rescarch Plan. Sponsor shall be entitled to have visibility of the raw data
on which the summary reports will be based. Within sixty (60) days after
completion of the applicable Research Project or earlier termination of this
Agreement, OSR shall submit to Sponsor comprehensive final reports containing
all Research Results related to the Research Plan,

OSE and Principal Investigators shall be entitled to publicly disclose the Research
Results and/or any information contained in the reports provided pursuant to
Section 4.1, subjeet however to Section 7.

5 OPTION ON CANDIDATE PRODUCT 1

5.1

As agreed by the Parties in the ARLA, Genenta shall have the exclusive option, to
be exercised sending written notice ("Option Exercise Notice”) during the
Candidate Product Option Period, to include the Optioned TP 1 as part of the
Licensed Patents and the Candidate Products 1 as part of the Licensed Products
under the ARLA; provided that Genenta shall pay to OSR an option exercise fee
equal tol I ithin 30 days from the date of the Option Exercise Notice,

Genenta shall have the right to extend the CP Option Period for the Option 1 twice
for additional 24 month perieds by sending written notice (each such notice, a “CP
Extension Notics") at least three months prior to the expiry of the CP Option Period
(as for the first extension) and at least three months prior to the expiry of the first
24 month extension period (as for the second extension); provided that such
extension shall be granted subject to the payment of an extension fee equal to [l

er each 24 months extension no later than 30 days from the date of
the CP Extension Notice.
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5.4

In the event that Genenta fails to send the Option Exercise Notice during the CP
Option Period without prejudice to the exclusive rights granted to Genenta the
ARLA in Section 2.1, Section 2.2(a), and Section 3, OSR shall be entitled to grant
any right to any third party under the Optioned IP 1, solely to the extent that the
Option Exercise Notice does not relate to such Option 1 either within the Field of
Use and/or outside the Field of Use.

Motwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that during the 6 months from the
expiry of the CP Option Period (as possibly extended) QSR intends to grant a
license under the Optioned IP 1 to conduet research and to develop, make, have
made, use, offer for sale, sell and/or import, respectively, the Candidate Products
1 in the Territory (or any part thereof) in the Field of Use (or any part thereof), QSR
shall first offer such license in writing to Genenta and the relevant written offer
shall include the terms and conditions for the grant of such license. Should
Genenta be interested in pursuing good faith negotiations with respect to the grant
of such license, Genenta shall provide written notiee of interest to OSR no later
than 10 days from receipt of OSR's written offer and the Parties shall have a 45 day
period to execute a license agreement in relation thereto. In the event that no notice
of interest is received by OSE from Genenta during the above mentioned 10 day
period or, having provided such notiee of interest during such 10 day period, no
agreement is executed by the Parties during the above mentioned 45 day period,
03K shall be entitled to grant such rights to any third party under such Optioned
IF 1, to conduct research and to develop, make, have made, use, offer for sale, sell
and/or impart, as applicable, such Candidate Produets 1 in the Territory or such
part thereaf, as applicable, in the Field of Use.

6 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

6.1

6.3

O5R shall be the owner of and shall retain all right, title and interest to the OSE
Background IP. OSR shall furthermore be the owner, jointly with Fondazione
Telethon, in their quality as joint ventures in SR-Tiget, of the Research Results
(including all intellectual property rights related thereto).

OS8R shall promptly notify Sponsor of any OSR Invention, which notice shall
include a detailed written description (including copies of written invention
disclosures received by OSR) of all such Inventions,

As between the Parties, OSR shall have the right to file, prosecute and maintain
patent applications on such OSR Inventions. OSE will consult with, and reasonably
consider in good faith comments provided by, Sponsor on patent applications for
OSR Inventions, Sponsor shall reimburse OSR within forty-five (45) days after
receipt of invoice for all documented, reasonahble, out-of-pocket costs and expenses
incurred by OSR in connection with the filing, prosecution and defence of the
patent applications and maintenance of the patents on OSR Inventions.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if no Option is exercised during the Option Period
(or no license agreement is executed within the applicable Negotiation Period in
relation to the applicable OSR Invention), Sponsor shall have no further obligation
to reimburse OSR's costs and expenses under this Section 6.3 (or shall have no
further obligation to reimburse such costs and expenses limited to the applicable
OSR Invention, to the extent that such costs and expenses are incurred after the

5




6.4

6.5

6.6

6.7

expiry of the Option Period (or after the expiry of the Negotiation Period in the
event that no license agreement is executed within the applicable Negotiation
Period following to the exercise of the Option in relation to the applicable OSR
Invention).

Without prejudice to (i) the rights granted to Genenta under the ARLA in relation
to the OSR Product Improvements and to Section 5 of this Agreement, OSE hereby
grants to Sponsor an option (“"Option”) to negoetiate either an exelusive or non-
exclusive, rovalty-bearing, non-transferrable, world-wide license, on commercially
reasonable terms, under the OSR Inventions to research, develop, make, have
made, use, offer for sale, sell and import any Licensed Product limited to the Field
of Use. Sponsor may exercise such option with respect to any OSR Inventions by
providing to OSR written notice thereof (“Option Notice") at any time during the
Option Period; provided that such Option Notice shall mention (i) whether
Sponsor is interested in an exclusive or a non-exclusive license, as well as (ii) the
indications within the Field of Use and the applicable Licensed Product(s) in
relation to which Sponsor is interested to start negotiations in accordance with
Section 6.5.

For up to three (3) months after OSR receives such Option Notice (the
“Negotiation Period”), OSK and Sponsor will negotiate in good faith the terms
of a license agreement to the OSE Inventions under which OSE would grant to
Sponsor an exclusive or non-exclusive license (as set forth in the Option Notice) in
relation to such Licensed Products(s) and such indication(s) within the Field of
Use as set forth in the Option Notice.

OSR shall have no further obligation to Sponsor in accordance with Sections 6.4
and 6.5 in relation to the applicable QSR Invention in the event that Sponsor and
Institute fail to execute a license agreement during the Negotiation Period.

For the sake of elarity, nothing in this Agreement shall be intended as a grant by
OSR to Sponsor of any rights or licenses in OSR Background IP. All rights not
expressly granted by a Party under this Agreement are reserved by such Party and
may be used by such Party for any purpose.

7  CONFIDENTIALITY, PUBLICATION, USE OF NAMES

7.1

As used herein, the term “Confidential Information™ includes, without
limitation, the terms of this Agreement and any technical, seientifie, business or
other information that may be disclosed by one Party (the “Disclosing Party”) to
the other Party (the “Receiving Party") in connection with this Agreement,
regardless of whether such information is specifically designated as confidential
and regardless of whether such information is in oral, written, electronic or other
form. The Receiving Party shall (a) hold in confidence the Confidentiallnformation
of the Disclosing Party and refrain from disclosing the Confidential Information of
the Disclosing Party to any third party without the express writtenconsent of the
Disclosing Party and (b) not use the Confidential Information of the Disclosing
Party for any purpose other than as expressly permitted under this Agreement.
Without limiting the foregoing, either Party shall not use the other Party's
Confidential Information for any purpose other than performing the Sponsored
Research and shall permit only those employees who have a need to know such
Confidential Information to aceess such Confidential Information. The

]




7.2

73

74

7.5

Receiving Party’s obligations under this Section 7.1 shall continue throughout the
Term and for ten (10) years following termination or expiration of this Agreement.,

The confidentiality and non-use obligations set forth in Section 7.1 shall not apply
to Confidential Information that the Receiving Party can demonstrate by
competent written proof:

(i) was known by the Receiving Party without restrietion prior to disclosure
under this Agreement;

(i1} was lawfully disclosed to the Receiving Party by a third party without an
obligation of confidentiality;

(iii) entered the public domain through means other than an unauthorized
disclosure or other breach of this Agreement by the Receiving Party;

(v} was independently developed by the Receiving Party without knowledge
or use of or access to Confidential Information disclosed by the Disclosing Party
under this Agreement; or

) was published or publicly disclosed in accordance with the terms of this
Agreament.

Motwithstanding Section 7.1, limited disclosure of Confidental Information shall
not be prohibited to the extent such Confidential Information is required to be
produced under applicable law; provided that, to the extent permitted under
applicable law, in such case the Receiving Party shall (a) promptly notify the
Disclosing Party in writing of the existenee, terms and circumstanees of such
required disclosure; (b) allow the Disclosing Party to offer its objections to the
production of the applicable Confidential Information; () cooperate with the
Diselosing Party to take legally available steps to limit such disclosure; (d) disclose
only those portions of Confidential Information that the Receiving Party is, in the
opinion of its counsel, legally obligated to disclose; and (&) seek confidential
treatment for all Confidential Information so disclosed.

Promptly after expiration or termination of this Agreement, the Receiving Party
shall return to Disclosing Party all Disclosing Party’s Confidential Information in
the possession or control of the Receiving Parly.

OSR shall be entitled to publish, present or otherwise disclose Research Results or
other information and material resulting from the Sponsored Research for any
purpose, subject to the terms and conditions of this Section 7.5. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, OSR shall furnish the Sponsor with a final draft of any proposed
publication, presentation or other public disclosure at least sixty (60) days in
advance of the submission of such proposed publication, presentation or other
public disclosure (*Publication”) in order for the Sponsor to review and comment
thereon, including to review for the pessible inclusion in such Publication of
Sponsor’s Confidential Information disclosed to OSR. OSR shall consider
Sponsor's suggestions for modifications as long as the neutrality and scientific
character of the publication is not impaired and shall delete from its proposed
Publication all Sponsor’s Confidential Information that the other Party identifies
and requests OSR to delete. Sponsor shall not be entitled to publish the Research

7




7.6

Results (subject to the provisions of the ARLA possibly executed during the
Negotiation Period in the event that Sponsor exercises the Option]).

Neither party may use the other party's name without prior wrilten consent except
that OSR may acknowledge Sponsor’s funding of the Sponsored Research and any
scientific contributions in scientific publications, in listings of sponsored research
projects and for other academic purposes, Sponsor shall not use OSR’s name, mark
or symbaol, or the name of any trustee, officer, faculty member, student or employee
thereof, without (SR ’s prior written consent, except as required by applicable laws
or as expressly consented under the ARLA.

8 REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS

841

8.2

OSR shall comply with all laws, regulations and other legal requirements
applicable in connection with the performance of the Sponsored Rescarch,
including but not limited to any legal requirements related to the use of animals in
the Sponsored Research and use of cell lines, tissue, human clinical isolates or
similar human-derived materials.

D8R makes no warranties, express or implied, as to (i) the completion, success or
particular results of the Sponsored Research, or (i) the condition, merchantability,
or fitness for a particular purpose of the Research Results, or (iii) the fact that QSR
Inventions will be generated in the performance of the Sponsored Research.

9 TERM AND TERMINATION

9.1

@3

9.4

Unless earlier terminated in accordance with its terms, the Sponsored Research
shall begin on the Effective Date and shall end upon the earlier of (a) the date of
completion of all activities relating to the RPs, as set forth in the Research Plans
and (b) 30 July 2025 (unless the Parties mutually agree upon an extension of the
Sponsored Research term). This Agreement shall be effective upon the Effective
Date and shall expire upon the date of expiry of the Negotiation Period (or upon
the expiry of the Option Period in the event that no option is exercised during such
Option Period); the term of this Agresment is referred to as the “Term”.

Either Party may terminate this Agreement effective upon written notice to the
other Party, if the other Party breaches any of the terms or conditions of this
Agreement and fails to cure such breach within thirty (30) days after receiving
written notice thereof,

Sponsor may terminate this Agreement for any reason or for no reason upon thirty
(30) days’ prior written notice to OSE; provided that Sponsor shall not be entitled
to send such notice to OSR during the 12 months period from the Effective Date.

If this Agreement terminates prior to ite expiration, OSE shall be entitled to retain
the payvments made by Sponsor prior to termination; provided that, in the event

that such payments are lower thalH Sponsor shall pay to OSR
within 30 days from the date of termination the difference between R
and the amounts paid by Sponsor to OSRE prior to the date of

termination.




9.5

Termination or expiration of this Agreement shall not affect the rights and
obligations of the Parties acerued prior to termination or expiration hereof. The
provisions of Sections 7, 8.4, 9, 10.1 and 10.6 shall survive such termination.

10 GOVERNING LAW AND ARBITRATION

10,1

10.2

10,3

This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in aceordance with the laws of
Ttaly, without regard to the conflicts of law prineiples thereof.

Any dispute, controversy or claim initiated by either Party arising out of or relating
to this Agreement, its negotiations, execution or interpretation, or the performance
by either Party of its obligations under this Agreement (other than (a) any dispute,
controversy or claim regarding the validity, enforceability, claim construction or
infringement of any patent rights, or defenses to any of the foregoing), shall be
finally resolved through arbitration by a panel of three (3) arbitrators appointed
under the Rules of the International Court of Arbitration of the International
Chamber of Commerece of Paris (the “Bules™), which both Parties declare to know
and accept. Each Party shall appoint one arbitrator and the two thus-appointed
arbitrators shall appoint the third arbitrator, who shall act as chairman of the
panel. In case of disagreement, the third arbitrator shall be appointed by the
Chairman of the International Chamber of Commerce, in accordanee with the
provisions of the Rules. Where necessary the Chairman of the International
Chamber of Commerce shall also appoint an arbitrator on behalf of the Party that
has failed to appoint its arbitrator within the deadline set forth by the Rules. The
seat of the arbitration shall be Milan, Italy. Any such arbitration shall be conducted
in the Italian language, without prejudice to the Parties right to file documents in
the English or other foreign language, along with the relevant certified translation
into Italian English or to hear witness in languages other than Italian provided that
a simultaneous translation is offered to the panel. Any award issued by the
arbitration panel shall binding upon the Parties and the arbitration shall be
“rituale” in its nature, The arbitration shall be conducted in accordance with the
Rules and the Parties hereby declare that the Emergency Arbitrators Provisions
shall not apply between them. The award rendered by the arbitrators may be
challenged on the grounds of breach of rules of law (Impugnazione per violarione
delle regole di diritto) pursuant to Article 829 (Casi di nullitd), third paragraph, of
the Italian Code of Civil Procedure.

Any other dispute which may not be submitted to the arbitration proceeding
pursuant to Section 10.2 above, including those relating to injunctive reliefs and
provisional and/or urgent measures and payment injunctions (decreto ingiuntive)
shall be devoted to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Court of Milan.

11 MISCELLANEA

11.1

Norights hereunder may be assigned by either Party, directly or by merger or other
operation of law, without the express written consent of the other Party; provided
that Sponsor may assign this Agreement to an Affiliate and to the sole and limited
extent that such Affiliate is assigned also the ARLA, Any prohibited assignment of
this Agreement or the rights hereunder shall be null and void. No assignment shall
relieve either Party of responsibility for the performance of any obligations which
accrued prior to such assignment.




11.2

11.2

11.4

11.5

11.6

1.7

No change, modification, or addition or amendment to this Agreement (including
to the Research Plans attached herewith), or waiver of any term or condition of this
Agreement, is valid or enforceable unless in writing and signed and dated by the
authorized officers of the Parties to this Agreement.

A waiver hy either Party of a breach or violation of any provision of this Agreement
will not constitute or be construed as a waiver of any subsequent breach orviolation
of that provision or as a waiver of any breach or violation of any other provision of
this Agreement.

Nothing herein shall be deemed to establish a relationship of principal and agent
between OSR and Sponsor, nor any of their agents or employees, nor shall this
Agreement be construed as ereating any form of legal association or arrangement
which would impose liability upon one Party for the act or failure to act of the other
Party. Nothing in this Agresment, express or implied, is intended to confer on any
person other than the Parties or their permitted assigns any benefits, rights or
remedies.

All communications hereunder shall be in writing, electronic mail and shall be
desmed to have been duly given (a) upon personal delivery, (b) upon deposit with
a recognized courier with next-day delivery instructions, (c) one (1) business day
after sending, if sent by electronic mail and no delivery failure notification has been
received, to the address set forth below or such other address as either Party may
specify by notice sent in accordance with this Section 10.5:

If to OSR:
Ospedale San Raffaele S.r.l.
via Olgettina No. 60
20132, Milan, Italy

Attention: Dr Daniela Bellomo, Business Development Director
iela.bellomoghsr.i

Ifto Princiial I|1'.'estii alors:

If to Sponsor:
Pierluigi Paracchi

plerluigi. paracchi@ genenta.com
Via Olgetting, 58 — 20132 Milano - Italy

This Agreement shall be construed and governed in accordance with the laws of
Ttaly, without giving effect to conflict of law provisions.

This Agreement, including the exhibits hereto embody the entire understanding
between the Parties relating to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior

10




11.8

understandings and agreements, whether written or oral. This Agreement may not
be varied except by a written document signed by duly authorized representatives
of both Parties.

This Agreement may be executed in more than one counterpart, each of which shall

be deemed an original but all such counterparts taken together shall constitute one
and the same agresment.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the duly authorized representatives of the Parties

hereby execute this Agreement as of the Effective Date.

Genenta Science S.p.A. Ospedale San Raffacle S.r.1.

DocuSigned by:
By: S s ] By:
Elu{wg F'armh,l
OT2CD4ECO0ZEAE ..
Name: Pierluigi Paraechi Wame: Marco Centenari
Title: CEQ Title: CEO
Date: Date: Drj /S’;}J/w 23




Background

Genenta Science S.p.A. is a clinical stage immuno-oncology company developing a cell-based
platform hamessing the power of hematopoietic stem cells (HSPCs) to provide durable and safe
treatments Tor solid tumors, By financing pre-clinical research Genenta aims to strength andgenerate
new intellectual property relevant to Genenta platform, to deep the understanding of themechanism
of actions of Temferon (Genenta’s clinical lead candidate), and to broad its clinical application.

Pre-clinical studies should address questions relevant to Temferon clinical development considering
the current paradigm treatment in immuno-oncology that often see in clinical practice a multimodal
approach.

Research Plan

OSR will evaluate/explore:

I. Temferon efficacy in pre-clinical mouse models of glioblastoma multiforme (GBM) and in at
least one additional solid tumor indication in combination anti-angiogenic strategies (RP1) and
immune checkpoint blockers (RP2).

2. Alternative conditioning regimens (RP3).

RP1- Exploring combination between TEM-mediated IFN-cx gene therapy and anti-angiogenic
therapy

Background information

The homing ability of TIE2-expressing monocytes/macrophages (TEM) into tumors can be used to
deliver anti-tumoral cylokines in the lwmor microenvironment {TME]._gl'Dup has
previously shown that TEM-mediated release of [FN-u in tumors can reprogram the immune
suppressive TME towards an immune stimulatory one. More recently, [ NIl e oup designed a
switchable version of the lentiviral vector (LV) delivery platform. Specifically, they built an inducible
form of IFN-u by fusing the ransgene w a mutant destabilizing domain (DD) from Escherichia coli
dihydrofolate reductase (DHFR), whose stabilizing ligand, trimethoprim (TMP), is a clinically
approved drug that crosses the blood-brain barrier. The TMP-inducible strategy adds an additional
level of control 1o the TEM-cytokine delivery system as it allows to timely regulate the secretion of
the eytokine through an ON/OFF switch. Moreover, it allows testing its efficacy in vive after tumor
onsct, thus better modeling a therapeutic intervention. This strategy is very useful when combined
with other therapies as it allows to choose the best therapeutic window for both therapies by allowing
switch ON and OFF at specific time points.

Inducible Glioblastoma murine model
group recently tested the inducible platform in a mouse model of Glioblastoma

(Birocchi et al., 2022). They transplanted mice with Empty LV (Control) or with Tie2-Ifnal -DHFR-
mirT LY (IFN--DHFR) and challenged them orthotopically with mGB2 glioblastoma (GBM) cells.
Mice were then treated with the DD-stabilizer TMP. Besides showing reduced tumor volume and
improved survival of IFN-a-DHFR compared to control, twmors from [FN-o-DHFR mice showed
lowervessel density, as confirmed by quantification of CD3 1 immunostaining.

Anti-angiogenic therapies in the clinic




The most prominent VEGF targeting drug is bevacizumab (BEV), a recombinant humanized
monoclonal antibody that binds to human VEGF-A.
Bevacizumab is currently used in the following indications:
*  Metastatic Breast Cancer
Stage LI or IV ovarian cancer after primary surgery
Recurrent epithelial ovarian, fallopian tube, or primary peritoneal cancer
Persistent, recurrent, or metastatic cervical cancer
Mletastatic renal cell carcinoma (in combination with TFMN-cc)
First-line non-sguamous non-small cell lung cancer
Metastatic colorectal cancer
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In Glioblastoma, BEY was tested both as upfront treatment together with RTx and concomitant
Temozolomide (TMZ) administration (Lai et al. 2008; Narayana et al. 2008) and in combination with
RTx in recurrent GBM (Gutin et al. 2009). Ts currently approved by FDA for recurrent GBM.

Objective
Temferon efficacy will be evaluated in a pre-clinical mouse models of glioblastoma multiforme
(GBM) and in at least one additional solid tumor indication in combination with anti-angiogenic
strategies.

Tasks
A.1.1 - To determine if Temferon symergize with an anti-angiogenic treatment.

o The Genenta platform will be tested in combination with an anti-angiogenic treatment,
A.1.2 - To evaluate whether the anti-angiogenic ireatment affects the TEMs homing to the TWE.

o TEMs homing within the TME will be quantitively evaluated using a reporter gene and
comparing untreated mice to mice treated with an anti-angiogenic treatment. Thekinetic
of recruitment will also be evaluated in relationship with tumor volume and the quantity
of transduced cells in the periphery.

A.1.3 - To determine the most adequate scheme of imtervention for the combination.

o The Inducible platform will be used to decipher the optimal treatment schedule for
Temferon in combination with an anti-angiogenic treatment in the context of a clinically
relevant conditioning regimen.

Tasks will be sequential and the transition to the next task will be reviewed and discussed with
Genenta.

Prelininary Activity
A pilot experiment will be performed on the additional chosen solid tumor to set the mostappropriate
condition for Temferon testing (number of cells to be injected, time for tumor development ete.).

Methods
Preclinical solid tumor models:

* mGB2 cells — GBM mouse models of glioblastoma multiforme (GBM).

e At least one additional solid tumor to be discussed and agreed with Genenta within 6 months

from the Effective Date.

Anfi-angiogenic infervention:

e In Vivo MAb anti-mouse VEGFR-2 (clone DC101, BioXCell)

o Reference - doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-3073

HYEPCs:

It-2




» The equivalent of human HSPCs (Lin-cells) will be transduced with the mTie-2-mIFN-c LYV
(mimicking the current Gementa plagform), with mTie-2-mIFN-o.-DHFR. LYV (fnducible
platform) and mTie2-GFP LVV {reporter consiruct), The transduction procedure should be
performed to get an ideal target VCM of 1 of the input cells to be administered (Lin- cells).

¢ The reparter construct will be used for the pilot experiment and to test the Genenta platformin
combination with an anti-angiogenic treatment in the additional chosen solid tumor model.

Conditioning Regimen:

¢ Total body irradiation for tasks A.1.1 and A.1.2 and a chemo-based conditioning regimen for

task A.1.3.

Tasks AL L and A1 2 < Experimental Design

Testing Groups

Mice will be challenged with the chosen solid tumor (GFP negative) upon bone marrow
reconstitution. Mice will be randomly assigned to the groups a or b and ¢ or d, after the first mmor
volume evaluation. If feasible two independent experiments for each tumor model will be performed.

a) CTR {lg)

b) anti-mouse VEGFR-2

¢} Temferon

d) Temferon + anti-mouse VEGFR-2 (Temferon first-line - prophyvlactic infervention)

The quantitative evaluation of TEMs presence will be performed on mice assigned to group a and b
and overtime on the additional chosen solid tumor and based on the result of the pilot experiment
madel (Lin- cells will be transduced with the mTie2-GFP LVV),

The experiment should determine the kinetic of TEMs recruitment and the relationship with 1) tumor
volume, 2) quantity of transduced cells in the periphery and 3) the anti-angiogenic treatment.

Based on the result the same experiment may also be conducted on the mGB2 mouse model (GFP
negative cell lines, to be preliminary tested in vivo)

Tasks A1 and A.1.2 — Assessments
The following evaluations will be conducted:

e Tumors volume (MRI)

s+  Tumor perfusion (Advance MRI) — a preliminary analysis will be conducted on potential
responder and non-responder mice to be selected in the different treatment groups. Basedon
the result a broader analysis may be conducted.

s Cytokines and growth factor concentration in serum/plasma — to be performed overtime,
cytokine should include but may not be limited to 1FN-ot, ANG-2, MMP-9, SDF-1, VEGF-A,
VEGF-C, TP, CTSB. Cytokines characterization will be conducted on group a and ¢ and based
on the efficacy results also on group b and d.

e Survival.

* Assessment of vessels type and vascularization arca (at study end).

Tasks AL T and A.1.2 - Time frame
8 months
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Tasks A 1.3 Experimental Design

Testing Groups

Mice will be challenged with the chosen solid tumor upon bone marrow reconstitution. Mice will be
randomly assigned to the groups A — D, after the first tumor volume evaluation, Trimethoprim
administration will follow the anti-angiogenic treatment. If feasible two independent experiments for
gach tumor model will be performed.

CTR

Anti-mouse VEGFR-2

Temferon

Temferon + anti-mouse VEGFR-2 — The anti-angiogenic treatment will be administered after
tmors development and before Temferon is turned-on (two weeks later - Temferon second-
line)

enE >

Based on the results additional treatment schedules may be tested including administering the anti-
angiogenic trealment simultaneously to Temferon infusion,

Tasks A.1.3 — Assessment

The following evaluations will be conducted:
Tumors volume
Tumois perfusion (Advanee MRI) — a preliminary analysis will be conducted on potential
responder and non-responder mice to be selected in the different treatment groups. Basedon
the result a broader analysis may be conducted.

*  Cytokines and growth factor concentration in serum/plasma — to be performed overtime,
cytokine should include but may not be limited to IFN-o, ANG-2, MMP-9, SDF-1, VEGF-A,
WVEGF-C, TP, CTSB. Cytokines characterization will be conducted on group a and ¢ and based
on the efficacy results also on group b and d.

e Survival.

Assessment of vessels type and vascularization area (at study end).

Tasks A.1.3 - Time frame

12 months




RP2- Exploring combination between immune checkpoint blockers and TEM-mediated IFN-a gene
therapy

Backgrownd information

The recently data published by || NNNEE covp regarding the characterization of tumor
infiltrating T lvmphocytes in the mGB2 GBM model indicates that T cells in control tumors co-
express different markers of exhaustion/dyvsfunction while in [FN-g treated tumors this phenotypeis
partially reverted. Gene set enrichment analysis (GEEA) on differentially expressed genes (DGE)
results, comparing both IFMN-a and IFN-a-DHFR with control T cells in the GBM microenvironment,
shows a negative enrichment of T cell exhaustion genes in gene therapy groups. Flow cytometry
analyses confirmed these data at the protein level, showing reduced percentage of cytotoxic CD8+T
cells co-expressing the exhaustion markers Programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1) and Lymphocyte-
activation gene 3 (LAG3) in the tumors of IFN-u-DHFR mice compared to controls. Moreover, recent
unpublished data obtained by [ qBMllzroup. in an ongoing study employing IFN- gene therapy
combined with CAR T cell therapy, shows that IFN gene therapy improves activation of CAR T CD8+
T cells by upregulating CD6% and Granzyme-B, and reducing co-expression of multiple immune-
checkpoint molecules (PD-1/LAG-3/CTLA-4 double and triple positive) indicating the preservation
of a less exhausted phenotype. Based on these data it was hypothesized that IFN-o gene therapy can
be coupled with immune checkpoint blockers like PD-1, PDL-1 and CTLA-4 to boostT cell mediated
immune response in a ‘cold” umor like GBM.

Immune-checkpoint blockers in the clinic

The relevance of the proposed studies is high as immune checkpoint blockers are routinely used in
patients across approximately 20 tumer types. Among ICls, PD-1/PDLI1 inhibitors are the most
widely used, commonly as monotherapy, or as the backbone of combination regimens with
ipilimumab or relatlimab, cytotoxic chemotherapy, and/or molecularly targeted therapies. Current
indications for patients with metastatic cancer are summarized in Table 1, while current indicationsin
the adjuvant {defined as systemic therapy to eliminate micrometastases and reduce risk of recurrence
after definitive cancer treatment, usually surgery or [chemo]radiotherapy) and necadjuvant (defined
as systemic therapy to downsize tumors prior to delinitive therapy) settings are summarized in Table
2 (Tan et al., 2022 - hitps://doi.org/10.1016/ jaccac.2022.09.004}. So far 1CIs failed to demonsirate
efficacy in GBM clinical trials. The optimal duration of treatment with IClIsin both metastatic and
adjuvant settings is still under investigation. Of note, ICIs line of treatment has changed over time
with a shift in 1C1s use from second- to first-line.

The table below reports the market approved [Cls with the relative target.

Target - ICIs

PD-1 Pembrolizumab, Nivolumab, Cemiplimakb, Avelurnab, Darvalumab
PD-L1  Atezolizumab

CTLA-4  Ipilimumab

LAG-3  Relatlimab
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TABLE | US. Fésd nd Dray Rdmisiitstlas Apsecvid Imsuns Checkpsaint (shiblbsrd s of Apdl 3033 Advassid ar Mats il Cancard

Orgae Cancnr benine Checlpalnt InkBlvar Uns ef Tha ragy Schedde
i Msanomy Igllmemab™ Frst Every 3w
Pembralinizah™ Firs Every 3or Gwk
Pioiuman™ First or savond Every 2 o 4 wh
Aterelinmab™ First Ewary 24 wi
Ipitirrarmal awd Hibohmal'™ First Every 3wk
Pelatlimal g Navcemab™ Firat Eviry 4w
CUENWSUS SOUITOUS o ] Carcinoma Pemiroizman™ Frgt Every 300 b wh
Cemiplimen’™ First Every 3wk
sl cedl cancinama Cemiglimah'™ Secand Every 3wk
Murial ol carsnama Pestroima~ Finil Every 3 o 6wk
Awelumab' Fimt Emry 3 wh
Lung Han-small cedl lung canger Pesbrolizamab™ = First Every 3 o0 6 wh
Hhaduma=-= Fist or secand Every 2 or d wh
Camiplimab’™" First Every 3wk
el Firt By 14 wk
Ipfiswral and Mivolumab™* Firgt Every 3wk
Srall eall lung cancer Aty Fist Every 14 wk
Dursakemiab™ Fiigt Ewiry 3-8 wk
Pleusral e setbeama |pamummdumm"' [Fast Eviry & wh
Urobsgical Reral call ascr Pemigroll b4 Every 3o 6wk
Hivolamaty'* Eketor second Every 2 or 4wk
Avalumay Frt Every 2wk
Tpilimusils and Hisslumas ™ Fant Eviry 3w
Weathalial carcirsma Parmbrelamay™ " Simand Evary For 6wk
Hivplanab™ Gmand By £ or 4wk
Aberclirumab’™ ©7 First ar secand Every 34 wk
Avalumay™ Second Every 2w
Head g ek Sqeenaus el crcinaTa Pembrolimmas"™ Firk. Ewery Jor B wi
Hiokanab™ Smasd Every 3 o 4wk
Gaabegintatingl Hepatotailule crino=e Permbroliamas ™" Semand Every 3 or G wi
Aberolinsmat* First Every 2-4 wik
Ipitirraenals asd Hhslumat'™ Smand Every 3w
WSkH or eMME colorezil cancer Pembrolinmas™ Fing Eviry 3 or 6wk
Mfendumab™ Second Every X or Awll
Ipiimamab asd Khalumab' Second Every 3 wic
Dantres and canor F s First Everylor Ewk
Wewglurmay' = Tt e smasd Evary 2-4 vk
Grwslegia Carvical canoe Pembrolinsat™’ Firil & simasd Every 3 or 6 wk
Endometraloancer Pembrolimma * Seod Eviry 3 of B wh
Breast Trigle negaske Dot canoer Pembeoimiman® Frs Every 3 or b wh
Lymphomas Classicall Hodghi's lymishama Pembeoimimal Third Every 3 or 6 wh
Wnebusmal ™ Fowls Evimy 2 e 4wk
Sndiastinal B el lymphama Pembroinrat ™’ Third Bvery Joor 6wk
(= T RS, MR, or ThiS-H solid crgan lumon: Pembeoiamay ™ Satwage therapy Everydor B wh
Soamme: U S, A7
AV - daficarr mESTaEh R V- = moonelo rensleyhigh TB-H = ToTes Mool burdee- high.
TABLE 3 US4 Feed snd Dvug Admialiteation Approved |mimena Chackpolst inhibiters aa of Apdl 2023: Adjuvant snd
Nesadjreent Therapisd
Drgan Gncer lermine {he capoial lnhikor Scenadio Cataitr STapt Shedule
Slia Melinoma It rma™” Afuvant L1} Petry 3wk
Pembslinumah ™ hdjuvant -1 Every 3 or i wh
Hhvalunab™ Adjuvant L] Evnry 2 or 4 wi
Lung Korrsmall ol lung cancer Hibeolumaby™ Hecadinast (8] Evary 3 wit
AvezoEeenab™" Adfjuant 111 Evary 24 wk
Durvalumab™ i uvant n Every ¥ ord wi
Urokogical Renal ol cancer Pembmlizumat ™" Adjuvant - Every 3 of B wi
Wrothelbl cardnoma Mvalemab ™ Adjuvant n Every 2 of 4 wi
Garsirie and cancer = Aedjuvant il=0 Every T or 4 wh
Banir Triphe niegatie bisasl Sincod bl purrady™ Adpvart #nd skt 1-at Evary 3 of 6 wk
A i b i Tabe 1.
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Ohjeciive

Temferon efficacy will be evaluated in a pre-clinical mouse models of glioblastoma multiforme
{GBM) and in at least one additional solid tumor indication (solid tumeor hot andfor cold®) in
combination with [CIs.

o e same additional pre-clivical solid twmor madel as idewrified and tested i AL will be wsed, Addiional modeds
sy also be ncluded (to be discussed and agreed with Genenta within & months froem the Efective Date).

Teuxky
A.2.1 - To determine if Temferon synergize with ICI in solid “hot™ and “cold” tumors.
o The Genenta platform will be tested in combination with ICls.
A.2.2 - To determine the most adequate scheme of intervention for the combination,
< The Inducible platform will be used to decipher the optimal treatment schedule for
Temferon in combination with ICls in the context of a clinically relevant conditioning
regimen.
A.2.3 - To dissect Temferon mechanism of action on the T cells compartment
o Circulating T lymphocyte repertoire will be in depth characterized to capture the
changes associated with an anti-tumor response or resistance/immune-escaping

Tasks will be sequential and the transition to the next task will be review and discussed with
Genenta,

Methods
Miuwine solid fumor models:
¢  mGB2 cells - GBM mouse models of glioblastoma multiforme (GBM).
o Atleast on additional solid tumor will be tested based on the results (hot solid andfor cold).
The pre-clinical mouse models will be discussed and agreed with Genenta within 6 manths
from the Effective Date.

I s
s Al least two ICIs among the following will be tested: anti-PD1, anti-PDL-1, anti-CTLA-4
andanti-LAG3
HEPCs:
¢ The equivalent of human HSPCs (Lin-cells) will be transduced with the mTie-2-mIFN-a LVV
(mimicking the current Genenra plaiform) and with mTie-2-mIFN-o-DHFR LVV (Inducible
platform). The transduction procedure should be performed to get an ideal target VO of lof
the input cells to be administered (Lin- cells).
Conditioning Regimen:
¢ Total body irradiation for tasks A.2.1 and a chemo-based conditioning regimen for task A.2.2,

Tasks A2 e A. 2.3 - Expevimental Design

Testing Growps

Mice will be challenged with the chosen solid wumor upon bone marrow reconstitution. Mice will be
randomly assigned to the groups a - d, after the first tumor volume evaluation. If feasible two
independent experiments for each tumor model will be performed.

a) CTR

b) ICI

¢} Temferon

e) Temferon + [C1 (Temferon first-line — prophylactic infervention)

|-




Tasks A.2.1 and A.2.3 — Assessments

The following evaluations will be conducted:
Tumer volume (MRI or equivalent imaging tumor quantification method)
Cylokines and growth factor concentration in serum/plasma — to be performed overtime,
cytokine should include but may not be limited to [FN-w, TGF-B,IL-2, IL-7, TL-10, IL-12, TL-
18,IL-27, TL-4. Cytokines characterization will be conducted on group a and ¢ and based on
the efficacy results also on group b and d.
T cell phenotype and aclivation/exhaustion state over time.
Survival.
Characterization of the myeloid and lymphoid infiltration in tumor and lympho-hematopoietic
organs (at study end).

Tasks A.2.1 and 4.2.3 - Time frame
& months

Tasks A.2.2 and A, 2.3- Experinental Design

Testing Groups

Mice will be challenged with the chosen solid tumor upon bone marrow reconstitution. Mice will be
randomly assigned to the groups A — D, after the first tumor volume evaluation. If feasible two
independent experiments for each tumor model will be performed.

A. CTR

B. ICI

C. Temferon

D. Temferon + ICI

o ICI administration will start after tumors development and before Temferon is
turned-on (two weeks later) (Temferon in second-ling)

Based on the results additional treatment schedules may be tested including administering the 1C1
simultaneously to Temferon infusion and testing Temferon in second-line and in combination with a
different ICT as used in first-line (Temferon in second-line and in combuo).

The ICT to be used as first- and second-line of treatment needs to be determined on the SOC of the
solid wmor under testing. ICI sequence needs to be discussed and agreed with Genenta.

Tasks 4.2.2 anel A.2.3— Assessment
The following evaluations will be conducted:
¢ Tumors volume (MRI or equivalent imaging tumor guantification method)

Cytokines and growth factor concentration in serum/plasma — to be performed overtime,
cytokine should include but may not be limited to [FN-o, TGF-,IL-2, IL-7, IL-10, TL-12, IL-
18,1L-27, IL-4. Cytokines characterization will be conducted on group a and ¢ and based on
the efficacy results also on group b and d.
T cell phenotvpe and activation/exhaustion state over time.
Survival.
Characterization of the myeloid and lymphoid infiltration in tumor and lympho-hematopoietic
organs (at study end).

Tasks A.2.3 - Time frame
12 maonths
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Potentia! additional evaluations for Research Plan A1 and A.2

In case of long term surviving mice in the experiments described in section A.1 {combination with
anti-angiogenic therapy) and in A.2 (combination with ICI) T cells Ivmphocytes will be adoptively
transfer from the PB, spleen, bone marrow (BM) and possibly from the brain of full responders in
syngeneic recipient mice challenged with the solid wmor under testing to monitor the onset of
protective immunity in the recipients. Moreover, if enough material will be available T cells gene will
be characterized for the gene expression at the single cell level.

RP3 - Exploring use of non-genotoxic conditioning for TEM-mediated IFN-o treatment delivery
to solid tumors.

Background information

For the TEM-mediated IFN-w gene therapy strategy, lineage-negative (Lin-) cells enriched in HSPCs
are isolated from total BM of CS7BL/¢ CD45.2 donor mice, transduced ex vive with lentiviral vectors
and infused in lethally irradiated syngeneic (CD45.1) recipient mice. Whole body irradiation, or an
alternative chemo-based conditioning regimen, is necessary to deplete endogenous BM cells to permit
Temferon engraftment.

Recently work from || NG > (Omer-laved et al, 2022) showed in C5TBL/G mice the
possibility of bypassing genotoxic conditioning leveraging by using mobilizers such as G-CSF,
AMD3100 and BIO3192 {G7AB treatment). G-CSF is a clinically approved compound that acts at
the level of BM in a broad and complex manner and leads to an increase of CD34+ cells in the
circulation. AMID3 100 (Plerixafor) instead is a dircct antagonist of CXCR4, which rapidly mobilizes
HSPC into thecirculation by directly disrupting a major BM retention axis, CXCL12-CXCR4, in a
reversible way. BIO5192 is a ITGA4 antagonist acting by disrupting the interactions of HSPC with
the BM stromal cells.

The administration of mobilizers, by inducing substantial egress of resident HSPCs from the BM
allows engraftment of the transplanted cells. Thus, infusing donor HSPCs at the peak of mobilization
enabled competition with mobilized recipient cells to repopulate the BM niches, establishing around
15-25% donor chimerism, as assessed by the respective percentages of CD45.1 (donor cells) and
CD45.2 (recipient cells).

Focus on Temferon clinical application/experience

In the current ongoing Genenta phase 1/2a clinical trial, CD34+ HSPC, (Temferon starting material,
corresponding to the mouse lineage negative cells) are mobilized from the bone marrow into the
peripheral blood by lenograstim (granulocyte colony-stimulating factor; G-CSF) and plerixafor and
are collected through an apheresis procedure. Once Temferon has been released, the patient undergoes
a cycle of chemo ablation, which requires patient hospitalization and may be associatedwith short-
and long-term clinical complications related o the adopted conditioning regimen.

Ohjective
To explore in pre-clinical mouse models the use of non-genotoxic strategy as an alternative
conditioning regimen for Temferon administration.

Tﬂ'ﬁ';‘.\'
B.1 - To determine if a non-genatoxic strategy may allow Temferon to engraft and differentiate
B.2 - To test Temferon efficacy in the confext of a non-genotaxic strategy for the cell therapy delivery

=]




Methads
Conditioning Regimen:

s Apheresis based-model mimicking the clinical setting (two mebilization attempts with

infusion of transduced cells during the peak of mobilization)
HSPCs:

s  Theequivalent of human HSPCs (Lin-cells) will be transduced with the mTie-2-mIFMN-o LVV
{mimicking the current Genenta platform). The transduction procedure should be performedto
get an ideal target VCN of 1 of the input cells to be administered (Lin- cells).

Preclinical solid tumor models:

» mGB2 cells - GBM mouse models of glioblastoma multiforme (GBM}.

s At least one additional solid tumor to be discussed and agreed with Genenta within 6 months
from the Effective Date.

Tasks B.1 and B.2 — Experimental Design and Assessmenis

The following experiments and assessments will be conducted to accomplish Task B.1 and B.2. Tf
feasible, two independent experiments will be conducted for each tumor model,

1 - Administration of G7AB and evaluation of the kinetic and of the peak of
o PB will be sampled at two different time points afier GTAB administration to measure
maohbilized white blood cells (WBC) and the quantity of short-term and long-term HSC
compared to control mice.
2 — Purification of Lin- and transduction with Tie2-GFP-mirl vector from CD43 donor mice
andiransplantation of transduced cells in recipient mice ai the peak of mobilization as assed in
point I,
o Mice will be followed over time to monitor chimerism and dose dependent engrafiment
and compared with mice transplanted with unmodified Lin- cells.
3 = Purification of Lin- and transduction with Tie2-GFP-mirT vector from CD43 donor mice and
transplantation of transduced cells in recipient mice af the peak of mobilization as assessed in I and
after a second mobilization (same mice as per point 2)
o Mice will be followed during time to monitor chimerism and dose dependent engrafiment
and compared with mice transplanted with unmodified Lin- cells.
o 12 weeks after the transplantation mice will be sacrificed and level of chimerism, short-
term and long-term HSC engraftment assessed in BM, PB, spleen and brain.
4 — Evaluation of the therapeutic potential of Lin- cells transduced with mTie2-miFNa compared io
empty LV (contral mice)
o The dose and timing for IFN-a cell therapy transplantation will be identify based on the results
of experiments described in points 1-3.
o Mice will be challenged with the selected solid tumors,
o Tumer growth and mice survival will be monitored over time after hematopoietic
reconstitution,

Researchers involved in the experimental plan
e | X Director Scientist — 25% of dedicated time
e 1 x Research Associate — 40% of dedicated time




¢ | x Staff scientist — 50 % of dedicated time
s | x Research Assistant — 30 % of dedicated time
o 2 x Postdoctoral Fellows - 25% of dedicated time

Chveredl Duraiion of the Research Activity
2 years




Exhibit B

Budget and Payment Schedule

The overall consideration for the Sponsored Research is equal to €500.000.

Direct Costs Year 1l Year 2 Totale

Consumables and Supplies

Services

Animal Facilities
TotalDirect Costs

OH 25% on Direct Costs
Grand Total

Such amount shall be paid by Sponsor to QSR az follows:

Euro within 15 days from the Effective Date;
Euro ill be paid within 15 December 2o23;
Hurn will be paid within 30 June 2024;

Euro vill be paid within 15 December 2024;
Euro |l be paid within 30 June 2025;




Exhibit C
Patent included in OSR Background IP

International patent application n. PCT/EPz023/061382 filed on 28 April 2023, title
“Methods for hematopoietic stem cell transplantation”

Inventors: Luigi Naldini, Attva Omer Javed

Applicant: OSR and Fondazione Telethon




AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED LICENSE AGREEMENT

This AMENDMENT to the Amended and Restated License Agreement (“Amendment™) is entered
inte as of September 28, 2023 (“Amendment Effective Date™)

Berareen

Ospedale San Raffacle S.r.l., an Italian company having registered office at via Olgettina Ne. 60,
20132, Milan, Ttaly, Fiscal Code (7636600962, duly represented for the purposes hereof by its Chief

Executive Officer, Marco Centenad (“OSR™)
= o e g il -
And

Genenta Science S.p.A., an Tralian company having registered office at via Olgettina No. 60, 20132,
Milan, Italy, Fiscal Code 08738490063, duly represented for the purpeses hereof by its Chicf Excoutive
Officer, Mr. Pietluigi Paracchi (“Genenta™)

i gthe ather side -
(OSK and Genenta shall be, collectively but not jointly, defined as the “Parties” and, severally, a
“Party™).
WHEREAS:

(A} The Pardes entered into that certain Amended and Restated License Agreement (“ARLA™)
which came into force on April 20, 2023, and that certain Sponsored Research Agreement
dated August 1%, 2023 (“CP1 SRA™);

{B)  The CP1 SRA, in accordance with ARLA provides for feasibility studies related to
Candidate Product 1 as defined in the ARLA, fulfilling the oblipations set forth in Section
2.11(i) of the ARLA as related to Candidate Produet 1;

i As provided by ARLA, in the absence of a sponsored research contraet related o
Candidate Product 2 within the established and de facto expired deadlines, such Candidzte
Product 2 and the related Optioned IP2 fall under the full avadlabilicy of OSE (and, as
applicable, of FT); and

9] The Parties now wish to amend the ARLA in relation to the terms and conditions of the
ARLA applicable o Candidate Produce 2 by granting an option to Genentz under this

Amendment;

Now, THEREFORE, also in consideration of the foregoing premises, which form an integral and
substantial part of this Amendment, and the mutual covenants herein contained, the PARTIES
HEREBY AGREE AS FOLLOWS:

Exhibit 10.2
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Definitions and Exhibits.

(i) The definition of Candidate Product 2 set forth in Section 1.7(ii) of the ARLA shall be
replaced entirely by the following:

“any gene therapy prodiects consisting of, or consprizing, any dentivival wetor regdated by aniBI28 andfar
i T 30 and) or other pills with the sagne expression pattern ar mifll 26 and miB T 30 in benrarspaietic cells
Jfor the expreccion of cprokines aind their variants (ather than TFN ar in addition in TFN) wuder the ool of
a Tiel prowoter, either alowe or du convidnaifon with any inrveanotherapy (incheding, withonf Feectaiton,
dmemene checkpoing imhibitor audyor o tuwor arociate autigen spesific T ool expressing a chimerde antfgen

recepiar (CARY) (“Candidare Produces 2" ar “CP2")".

(it} the following definition shall be added 1o Section 1 of the ARLA as Section 1.52:

“CP2 [P shall mean

(1) (a) the patents and patent applications identified in Exhibit 2118 wo the ARLA; (B)
divisions, continuations, continuations-in-part, that claim priority to, or conumon pricrity
with, any of the patent stpp].icaliuns deseribed In clause (a); and (g} patents that have issued
or in the future issue from any of the forepoing patent applications; provided that clavses
(@} through () abowve shall always include any reissues, renewals, extensions, supplemental
protection certificates, and additions to any thereot; and

(2) the results generated after the ARLA Effective Diate and untl 30 June 2025 (“Additional
Results Period”) (for which OSE has the rght to grant a license upon the expiry of the
Additional Research Period) by scientsts or other personnel working at lhuE

at TIGET Instiute in the performance of possible research
actvities on the results described in the paper Biroeshi et al, Soi. Transl. Med. 2022, o the
limited extent that such results penerated in the Addidonal Results Perod concern
expression of cyiokines, including -but not limited to- Interleukin 2, under the control of

a Tic2 promotet,
Sections 2.11 and 9.1{ii) of the ARLA.

Genenta and OSR will have no further oblipation to nepotiate and execute a sponsored
research agreement for the performance of feasibility studies related ta the CP2 (and each of
the Partes shall have no liability to the other Party in relation to the failure to negotiate and
execute such sponsored research agreement related to the CP2). For the avoidance of doubt
any reference to Candidate Froduet 2, Option 2 and Optioned IP 2 shall be reparded as
removed from Sections 211 and 9.101), which shall continue to refer solely to Candidate
Product 1, Option 1 and Opdoned IP 1 and, therefore, any reference in such Sections to the
Option Exercise Notice, the CI Option Period and the CP Extension Notice shall be intended
a5 referred solely to Option 1.

CP2 Option.
The following proviston shall be added as Section 2.2bis in the ARLA:
(1) OSK hereby grants to Genenta en exclusive option, to be exercised sending written notice

2.




[“CP2 Option Exercise Notice”) 10 OSR on or before 30 September 2025 (such option
pedod, as possibly extended according to (iii) below, the “CP2 Option Period™), to include
{from the date of receipt by OSR of the CP2 Option Exercize Notice) the CP2 TP as part of
the Licensed Technology and the Candidate Products 2 as part of the Licensed Products under
the ARLA; provided that in the event that such option is exercised by Genenta {and from the
date of receipt of the CP2 Opton Exercised Notice by OSR), the definition of Field of Use
related to the Candidate Products 2 shall be as follows: “the use of gene therapy with respect
to () any and all Solid Cancer Indications {including, for the avoidance of doubr, glioblastoma
and solid liver cancer) and/or (b) solely subject to (and starting from) Genenta having
exercised the option set forth in Section 22(h) below, such Lympho-Hematopoietc
Indication{s) in relation to which such option is exercised”.

(if}) Genenta shall pay to OSE an option exercise fee equal ro-within 30 days from
the date of the CP2 Option Exercise Notce.

(i) Genenta shall have the right 1o extend the CP2 Opton Period twice for addidonal 24
muonth periods by sending written notice (each such notice, 2 “CP2 Extension Notice') at
least three months prior to the expiry of the CP2 Option Peried (as for the first extension)
and at least three months prior wo the expiry of the first 24-month extension period (as for the
second extension); provided that such extension shall be pranted subject to the payment of an
extension fee equal to | ] per each 24-months extension, no later than 30 days
from the date of the applicable CP2 Extension Notice.

(iv) In the event that Genenta fails to send the CP2 Option Exercise Motice during the CP2
Option Period, subject to Section 3 OSK shall be entitled to exploit (induding granting rights
to third parties) the Licensed Technology inside or outside the Field of Use with respect to
the CP2 and, withour prejudice to the exclusive rights granted to Genenra in Section 2.1 and
subject to Section 3, to grant any right to any third party under the CP2 IP either within the
Field of Use and/or outside the Field of Use.

(v} Following receipt by OSR of the CP2 Option Excrcise Notice, OSR shall promptly deliver
to Genenta, in a mutually agrecable form, copies of all written, graphic or electronic
embodiments of the applicable CP2 1P and OSRE will make its scientsts and/or other
personnel working at the | INNENEMEGEBGINGN - 11ET [nsttute available to
Genenta, upon reasonable advance notice to emable, and provide support in, practicing the
CPZ TP, as applicable, with respect to the CP2, as applicable, during the rwelve {12) months
from the first CP2 Option Exercise Notice, being understood that OSR's support to Genenta
in respect of this Seetion 2.2bis(viil) shall not exceed thirty (30) hours of work in aggregate
among all personnel working ar the |G T1GET [nstnte, in
providing such support during such perod, at no cost to Genenta.

(vi} Section 10.3(1) shall apply maiatés matandis in the event that Genenta fails to pay the option
fee set forth in this Section 2.2bis{if}) above or any of the extension fees due and payable
according to this Section 2 Zhis{ji), in each case within thirty (30) days following the expiration
of the applicable deadlines.

{vit} OSR shall have the right and obligation to control the preparation, filing, prosecution and
maintenance of all patents and patent applications within the CP2 TP mentioned in Section




o

1.52{1). OSR shall furthermore have the dght to prepare, file (including at any tdme poor to
the expiry of the Additional Research Period) and prosecute patents and patent applications
with respeet to the results mentoned in Section 1.32(i1). The costs of the foregoing activities
shall be borne by Genenta (and OSE may request the patent counsels to invoice Genenta for
such purpose) from the ARLA Effective Date, provided that such obligation shall cease with
respect to the patents and patent applications comprised in the CP2 TP concurrent with the
expiry of the applicable CP2 Opton Period in the event that Genenta has not exercised the
option granted in this Section 2.2{big){i). For the avoidance of doubt OSR shall have the right
of election with respect to the following: (a) whether or not to seck unitary effect in relation
to the patents comprised in the CP2 IP upon receipt of notfication according vo Rule 71(3)
of the Implementing Regulation to the European Patent Convention in Europe; and (b)
whether or not to opt out of the jursdicdon of the Unified Patent Court in respect of such
patents in Europe during the transitional period; when exercising such opt out; and if and
when withdeawing such opt-out.

(viii) The Partics agree that () OSR shall have no obligation to carry out research activities
during the Additional Results Period on the results described in the paper Birocchi et al. Sci.
Transl Med. 2022 (including, but aot limired to, with respect 1o expression of cyrokines,
including -but not limited to- Interleukin 2, under the control of 4 Tie2 promoter); (b) in the
event that the _a[ TIGET Institute carries out such research
activitics, during the 30 days from the expiry of the Additonal Results Period OSR shall
provide Genenta with a written repert of the results identified in Secton 1.52(1)".

This Amendment shall be etfective from the Amendment Effective Date,

Any capitalized terms in this Amendment should have the same meaning as given in the ARLA
{unless differently provided in this Amendment). All the other texms and conditions of the
ARLA shall remain in effect withowt chanpe.

Without prejudice to Section 2 of this Amendment, nothing in this Amendment is intended
to operate as a waiver of any claims either Party may have against the other Party adsing priot
to the date of this Amendment, including any claims arsing prior to the date of this
Amendment with respect to the performance of the Parties undet the Agreement. Any delay
in enforcing a Partys dghts under this Amendment or the Agreement, or any waiver ag to a
particular default or other matter, will not constitue a waiver of such Party’s rights to the
furure enforcement of its rghts under this Amendment or the Apgreement, except with respect
to an express written waiver relating to a particular matter for 2 pardcular period of time signed
by an authorized representative of the waiving Party, as applicable.

This Amendment shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of Ttaly,
without regard to the conflicts of lew principles thercof. Except as specifically amended by
this Amendment, the tetins and conditions of the Agreement shall remain in full force and
effect. This Amendment may be execured in pwo or more countesparts, each of which shall
be deemed an orginal, but all of which together shall constimte ore and the same instrument,
Except to the extent expressly provided herein, the Agreement {including all appendices,
exhibiz and schedules thereto}, a5 amended by this Amendment, constitute the entire
agreement between the Parties relating to the subject matter of the Apreement and supersedes
all previous oral and weritten communications, including all previous agreements, between the

.




Parties.

[Thig Space Intentionally Left Blank,]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this agreement effective as of the Amendment
Effective Dhate.

Dsped?lql San Raffaele S.r1.
[/L/u& ‘L/m

Mame: Ing Mareo Centenar
Title: Chief Executive Officer

'T'1I:I|: th:F FExecutive Officer




Genenta Science S.p.A.
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss

Exhibit 99.1

Six Months Ended June 30,

2023 2022
(Unaudited)

Operating expenses

Research and development € 3,921,802 € 1,640,579

General and administrative 2,878,373 2,513,558
Total operating expenses 6,800,175 4,154,137
Loss from operations (6,800,175) (4,154,137)
Other income (expense)

Other income 114,992 215,486

Finance income (expense) 77,999 -

Unrealized exchange rate gain (loss) (152,041) 1,826,330
Total other income (expense) 40,950 2,041,816
Loss before income taxes (6,759,225) (2,112,321)
Income taxes benefit (expenses) = =
Net loss (6,759,225) (2,112,321)
Net loss and comprehensive loss € (6,759,225) € (2,112,321)
Loss per share:
Loss € (6,759,225) € (2,112,321)
Loss per share — basic € 037) € (0.12)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding — basic 18,216,858 18,216,858

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.




Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Marketable securities

Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets

Non-current assets

Fixed assets, net

Other non-current assets

Other non-current assets - related party
Total non-current assets
Total assets

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Accounts payable - related party
Accrued expenses
Accrued expenses - related party
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Other non current liabilities

Retirement benefit obligation
Total long-term liabilities

Commitments and contingencies

Shareholders’ equity

Genenta Science S.p.A.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

Ordinary shares, no par value, 59,700,000 shares authorized and 18,216,858 shares issued

and outstanding
Accumulated deficit
Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

At June 30, At December 31,
2023 2022
(Unaudited)

12,213,260 29,794,856
9,998,547 -
2,304,233 1,926,512

24,516,040 31,721,368

102,933 111,639
2,103,732 1,601,503
3,350 3,350
2,210,015 1,716,492
26,726,055 33,437,860
349,274 1,042,054
130,220 151,988
448,365 202,389
632,381 489,207
211,272 297,875
1,771,512 2,183,513
21,004 27,218
129,449 88,963
150,453 116,181
67,019,158 66,603,725
(42,215,068) (35,465,559)
24,804,090 31,138,166
26,726,055 33,437,860

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.




Balance at December 31, 2021
Share-based compensation

Net loss

Balance at June 30, 2022 (Unaudited)
Share-based compensation
Cumulative translation adjustment
Net loss

Balance at December 31, 2022
Share-based compensation
Cumulative translation adjustment
Net loss

Balance at June 30, 2023 (Unaudited)

Genenta Science S.p.A.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

Common shares Common stock, Accumulated
outstanding no par value deficit Total

18,216,858 € 65,880,990 € (27,019,807) 38,861,183
- 240,043 - 240,043
- - (2,112,321) (2,112,321)

18,216,858 € 66,121,033 € (29,132,128) 36,988,905
- 482,692 - 482,692
- - 32,011 32,011
- - (6,365,442) (6,365,442)

18,216,858 € 66,603,725 € (35,465,559) 31,138,166
- 415,433 - 415,433
- - 9,716 9,716
- - (6,759,225) (6,759,225)

18,216,858 € 67,019,158 € (42,215,068) 24,804,090

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.




Genenta Science S.p.A.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Six Months Ended June 30,
2023 2022
(in Euros)

Cash flows from operating activities

Net loss € (6,759,225) € (2,112,321)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Cumulative translation adjustment 9,716 -
Depreciation expense 21,143 2,813
Retirement benefit obligation 40,486 24,574
Share-based compensation 415,433 240,043
Gain on purchase of marketable securities (9,517) -

Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (377,721) (1,218,085)
Other non-current assets (502,229) 443,114
Accounts payable (692,780) 83,092
Accounts payable - related party (21,768) 252,607
Accrued expenses 245,976 (329,451)
Accrued expenses - related party 143,174 40,218
Other current liabilities (86,603) 7,203
Other non-current liabilities (6,214) =

Net cash used in operating activities (7,580,129) (2,566,193)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of marketable securities (9,989,030) -
Purchases of fixed assets (12,437) (2,813)

Net cash used in investing activities (10,001,467) (2,813)

Cash flows from financing activities
Financing activities - -

Net cash provided by financing activities - =

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (17,581,596) (2,569,006)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 29,794,856 37,240,162

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period € 12,213,260 € 34,671,156

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.




Genenta Science S.p.A.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Nature of business and history

Genenta Science S.p.A. (the “Company” or “Genenta” - formerly Genenta Science S.r.l., a “societa a responsabilita limitata” or “S.r.1,” which is
similar to a limited liability company in the United States) converted to an Italian joint stock company (a “societa per azioni” or “S.p.A.”) in June 2021,
which is similar to a C corporation in the United States. The Company was founded in Milan, Italy by San Raffaele Hospital (“OSR”), Pierluigi Paracchi,
Luigi Naldini and Bernhard Gentner, and was incorporated in July 2014. On May 20, 2021, the quotaholders (owners of the Company) resolved that the
Company convert from an S.r.l. to an S.p.A., determined that the outstanding quota be converted to 15 million ordinary shares at no par value and adopted
new Bylaws. The registered office remained located in Milan, Italy. The Company’s reporting currency is Euros (“EUR” or “€”).

In May 2021, the Company formed a wholly owned Delaware incorporated subsidiary, Genenta Science, Inc., intended for future operations in the
United States (“US Subsidiary”). The US Subsidiary operates in US Dollars (“USD” or “$”).

On December 17, 2021, the Company completed an initial public offering (“IPO”) of its shares. The shares began trading on the Nasdaq Stock
Capital Market (“Nasdaq”) on December 15, 2021.Through the IPO, 3,120,114 new ordinary shares with no par value were issued. 720,114 ordinary shares
were subscribed by the Company’s existing shareholders through a reserved offering, while 2,400,000 American Depository Shares (“ADSs”), each
representing one of the Company’s ordinary shares, were offered to the public and listed on Nasdaq. Subsequently, on December 27, 2021, the Company’s
underwriter exercised a portion of its “green shoe” allotment for an additional 96,744 ADSs. The total number of shares outstanding resulting at December
31, 2021 was 18,216,858. Through the IPO, approximately €29 million was raised, net of listing costs (approximately €3.9 million). There were no
additional ordinary shares issued from December 31, 2021 to June 30, 2023.

On May 12, 2023, the Company filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) a shelf registration statement (the “Shelf
Registration Statement”) that was subsequently declared effective on May 24, 2023. It permits the Company to sell from time-to-time ordinary shares,
including ordinary shares represented by ADSs, or rights to subscribe for ordinary shares or ordinary shares represented by ADSs in one or more offerings
in amounts, at prices and on the terms that the Company will determine at the time of offering for aggregate gross sale proceeds of up to $100.0 million.

The Company may offer and sell up to $30.0 million ordinary shares in the form of ADSs from time to time pursuant to a Controlled Equity OfferingS™
Sales Agreement, dated May 12, 2023 (the “Sales Agreement”), between the Company and Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. (“Cantor”), as agent, subject to the
terms and conditions described in the Sales Agreement and SEC rules and regulations (the “ATM Offering”).

Genenta is an early-stage company developing first-in-class cell and gene therapies to address unmet medical needs in cancerous solid tumors. The
Company is initially developing its clinical leading product, Temferon™, to treat glioblastoma multiforme (“GBM”), a solid tumor affecting the brain. The
Company intends to continue its clinical trials in Europe and eventually start a clinical trial in the United States to study Temferon™ in other cancers. In
June 2023, the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) selected Renal Cell Cancer (“RCC”) as the second solid tumor indication for Temferon. The
Company is developing a clinical plan for RCC.

The Company is subject to risks and uncertainties common to early-stage clinical companies in the life-science and biotechnology industries,
including but not limited to, risks associated with completing preclinical studies and clinical trials, receiving regulatory approvals for product candidates,
development by competitors of new competing products, dependence on key personnel, protection of proprietary technology, compliance with government
regulations and the ability to secure additional capital to fund operations. The clinical product candidates currently under development will require
significant additional research and development efforts, including regulatory approval and clinical testing prior to commercialization. These efforts require
significant amounts of additional capital, adequate personnel and infrastructure and extensive compliance-reporting capabilities in Italy, Europe and the
United States. Even if the Company’s product development efforts are successful, it is uncertain when, if ever, the Company will realize revenue from
product sales and profit from operations.




Liquidity and risks

The Company has incurred losses since its inception, including a net loss of €6.8 million and €2.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023,
and June 30, 2022, respectively. In addition, at June 30, 2023, the Company had an accumulated deficit of €42.2 million. The Company has primarily
funded these losses through the proceeds from sales of convertible debt and equity quotas, prior to the Company’s conversion into an S.p.A., and then
through the proceeds from its IPO. Although the Company has incurred recurring losses and expects to continue to incur losses for the foreseeable future,
the Company expects that its existing cash and cash equivalents on hand of €12.2 million, together with the other short term marketable securities of €10.0
million as of June 30, 2023, will be sufficient to fund current planned operations and capital expenditure requirements for at least the next twelve months
from the filing date of these consolidated financial statements. However, the future viability of the Company is dependent on its ability to raise additional
capital to finance its operations. The Company’s inability to raise capital as and when needed could have a negative impact on its financial condition and
ability to pursue its business strategies. There can be no assurance that the current operating plan will be achieved or that additional funding will be
available on terms acceptable to the Company, or at all.

The Company has evaluated whether there are conditions and events considered in the aggregate that raise substantial doubt about the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. The Company’s business model, typical of biotechnology and life science companies developing new therapeutic
products that have not reached a balanced income and financial position, features negative cash flows. This is because, at this stage, costs must be borne in
relation to services and personnel, directly connected to research and development, and clinical activities, and return for these activities is not certain and,
in any case, it is expected in future years. Based on the accounting policies adopted, requiring full recognition of research and development, and clinical
costs in the statement of operations and comprehensive loss in the year they are incurred, the Company has reported a loss since its inception, and expects
to continue to incur significant research and development, and clinical costs in the foreseeable future. There is no certainty that the Company will become
profitable in the future.

The Company’s ability to raise additional capital may be adversely impacted by the potential worsening of global economic and political
conditions and volatility in the credit and financial markets in the United States and worldwide. This could be exacerbated by, among other factors, the
lingering effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and its ongoing variants and/or the war between Russia and Ukraine. The Company’s failure to raise capital as
and when needed or on acceptable terms would have a negative impact on the Company’s financial condition and its ability to pursue its business strategy,
and the Company may have to delay, reduce the scope of, suspend or eliminate one or more of its research-stage programs, clinical trials, or future
commercialization efforts.

As stated, the Company will require additional capital to meet its long-term operating requirements. It expects to raise additional capital through,
among other things, the sale of equity or debt securities, which may include sales of ADSs pursuant to the ATM Offering. If adequate funds are not
available in the future, the Company may be forced to delay, reorganize, or cancel research and development and/or clinical programs, or to enter into
financing, licensing or collaboration agreements with unfavorable conditions or waive rights to certain products which otherwise it would not have waived,
resulting in negative effects on the activity and on the economic, patrimonial and /or financial situation of the Company.

Quantitative and qualitative disclosure about market risk

The Company is exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of its business. Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact the
Company’s financial position due to adverse changes in financial market prices and rates. The Company’s current investment policy is conservative due to
the need to support operations. The Company invests available cash in bank time deposits with reputable banks that have a credit rating of at least “A” and
Italian and United States government treasury notes and bonds with short term maturity. A minority of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents is held in
deposits that bear a small amount of interest. The Company’s market risk exposure is primarily a result of foreign currency exchange rates, which is
discussed in detail in the following paragraph.

The Company is an early-stage cell and gene therapy company commercializing technology licensed from OSR. The Company intends to continue
to conduct its operations so that neither it nor its subsidiary is required to register as an investment company under the Investment Company Act of 1940,
as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder (the “‘40 Act”). To ensure that the Company does not become subject to regulation
under the ‘40 Act, the Company may be limited in the type of assets that it may own or acquire. If the Company were to become inadvertently subject to
the ‘40 Act, any violation of the ‘40 Act could subject the Company to material adverse consequences.




Foreign currency exchange risk

The Company’s results of operations and cash flow may be subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. The
Company’s liquid assets and expenses are denominated in EUR and USD. (At June 30, 2023, the Company maintained €12.2 million in cash and cash
equivalents and €10.0 million in marketable securities. Changes in the USD/EUR exchange rate could increase/decrease the Company’s operating
expenses, especially as more costs are incurred in the United States or, as USD are exchanged for EUR to cover European operating costs. As the Company
continues to grow its business, the Company’s results of operations and cash flows might be subject to significant fluctuations due to changes in foreign
currency exchange rates, which could adversely impact the Company’s results of operations.

Currently, the Company has recorded an unrealized net loss from exchange rate of approximately €0.2 million. The Company does not currently
hedge its foreign currency exchange risk. In the future, the Company may enter formal currency hedging transactions to decrease the risk of financial
exposure from fluctuations in the exchange rates of its principal operating currencies. These measures, however, may not adequately protect the Company
from the material adverse effects of such fluctuations.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
Basis of presentation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company are unaudited and have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) for interim financial reporting and in accordance with Regulation S-X, Rule 10-01 promulgated
by the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Accordingly, the financial statements may not include all the information and footnotes required by
U.S. GAAP for complete financial statements. Any reference in these notes to applicable guidance is meant to refer to the authoritative U.S. GAAP as
found in the Accounting Standards Codification, or ASC, and Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) of the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”).

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements
and accompanying notes included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 20-F filed with the SEC on April 21, 2023. The balance sheet as of December
31, 2022 was derived from audited consolidated financial statements included in the Company’s Annual Report but does not include all disclosures
required by U.S. GAAP.

Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP have been
condensed or omitted from these interim financial statements. However, these interim financial statements include all adjustments, consisting only of
normal recurring adjustments, which are, in the opinion of the Company’s management, necessary to fairly state the results of the interim period. The
interim results are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected for the full year.

A summary of the significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements is presented below, only for
the categories and headings now applicable and that might be applicable in the future based on the Company’s business. These policies have been
consistently applied, unless otherwise stated.

Principles of consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary. All significant
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.




Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts reported in the financial statements and the disclosures made in the accompanying notes. Estimates and assumptions reflected in these
consolidated financial statements include, but are not limited to, the accrual for research and development and clinical expenses and related milestone
payments, share-based compensation expense, valuation of research and development tax credits, the valuation of equity and the recoverability of the
Company’s net deferred tax assets and related valuation allowance. Estimates are periodically reviewed considering changes in circumstances, facts, and
experience. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. Changes in estimates are recorded in the period in
which they become known. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed below.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with original maturities of 90 days or less at acquisition to be cash equivalents,
which amounts may at times exceed federally insured limits. The Company has not experienced any losses on such accounts and does not believe it is
exposed to any significant credit risk. In the consolidated cash flow statements, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand. In the consolidated balance
sheets, bank overdrafts, if any, are shown in current liabilities. Cash and cash equivalents are detailed as follows:

At June 30, At December 31,
2023 2022
(in Euros) (Unaudited)
Cash in bank € 12,209,242 € 29,790,838
Cash in hand & prepaid cards 4,018 4,018
Total € 12,213,260 € 29,794,856

Net loss and comprehensive loss

Comprehensive loss is defined as the change in equity during a period from transactions and other events and circumstances from non-owner
sources. ASC 220 Comprehensive Income requires that an entity records all components of comprehensive (loss) income, net of their related tax effects, in
its financial statements in the period in which they are recognized. For the six months ended June 30, 2023, and June 30, 2022, the comprehensive loss was
equal to net loss.

Net loss per share

Net loss per share (“EPS™) is computed in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Basic EPS is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS reflects potential dilution and is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period increased by the number of additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding if
all potential ordinary shares had been issued and were dilutive.

The EPS calculation was applied at the Company conversion to S.p.A. in June 2021. The Company’s shareholders authorized 59.7 million
ordinary shares. The Company has 18,216,858 ordinary shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023, which has not changed since the IPO, with 2.7
million ordinary shares reserved for the Company’s Equity Incentive Plan 2021-2035.

At June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2022, the Company had options on 318,459 and 147,783 ordinary shares outstanding, respectively, and 23,502
ordinary share equivalents, in the form of underwriters’ ordinary share warrants.

Diluted EPS was not relevant at June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2022, as the effect of ordinary share equivalents, in the form of 23,502 underwriters’
ordinary share warrants, and options on 318,459 and 147,783 ordinary shares, respectively, would have been anti-dilutive. (See Note 10. Shareholders’
equity and Note 11. Share-based compensation.)




Foreign currency translation

The reporting and functional currency of the Company is Euros. All amounts are presented in Euros unless otherwise stated. All amounts
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements and notes have been rounded to the nearest Euro unless otherwise stated. Foreign currency transactions, if
any, are translated into Euros using the exchange rates prevailing at the date(s) of the transaction(s) or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss. For
financial reporting purposes, the assets and liabilities of the US Subsidiary are translated into EUR using exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date.
The net profit/(loss) of the US Subsidiary is translated into EUR using average exchange rates in effect during the reporting period. The resulting currency
translation impact is recorded in Shareholders’ equity as a cumulative translation adjustment. At June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2022, the currency translation
impact was not material.

During the six months ended June 30, 2023, the unrealized foreign exchange net loss was €0.2 million. During the six months ended June 30,
2022, the unrealized foreign exchange net gain was €1.8 million. The change in the net foreign exchange rate effect was due to the fluctuation in the USD
exchange rate with the Euro.

Emerging growth company status

The Company is an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act (the “JOBS Act”) and may take
advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth
companies. The Company may take advantage of these exemptions until the Company is no longer an “emerging growth company.” Section 107 of the
JOBS Act provides that an “emerging growth company” can take advantage of the extended transition period afforded by the JOBS Act for the
implementation of new or revised accounting standards. The Company has elected to use the extended transition period for complying with new or revised
accounting standards and, because of this election, its consolidated financial statements may not be comparable to companies that comply with public
company effective dates. The Company may take advantage of these exemptions up until the last day of the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of its
IPO or such earlier time that it is no longer an “emerging growth company.”

Fair value measurements

Certain assets and liabilities of the Company are carried at fair value under U.S. GAAP. Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be
received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants on the measurement date. Valuation techniques used to measure fair value must maximize the use of observable
inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value are to be classified and disclosed in one of the
following three levels of the fair value hierarchy, of which the first two are considered observable and the last is considered unobservable:

o Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

e Level 2 — Observable inputs (other than Level 1 quoted prices), such as quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities, quoted
prices in markets that are not active for identical or similar assets or liabilities, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by
observable market data.

e Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity that are significant to determining the fair value of the assets or
liabilities, including pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies and similar techniques.

To the extent that the valuation is based on models or inputs that are less observable or unobservable in the market, the determination of fair value
requires more judgment. Accordingly, the degree of judgment exercised by the Company in determining fair value is greatest for instruments categorized in
Level 3. A financial instrument’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value
measurement.




The carrying values of the Company’s research and development tax credits, VAT credits, accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current
liabilities approximate their fair values due to the short-term nature of these assets and liabilities.

June 30, 2023
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Marketable Securities € 9,998,547 € 9,998,547 € - € -
Total financial assets € 9,998,547 € 9,998,547 € - € -

The Company invests in highly rated foreign government debt securities, with the primary objective of minimizing the potential risk of principal
loss. The unrealized gain recognized during the reporting period on trading securities still held at the report date was €9,517.

Segment information

Operating segments are identified as components of an enterprise for which separate discrete financial information is available for evaluation by
the chief operating decision-maker in making decisions regarding resource allocation and assessing performance. The Company and its chief operating
decision-maker view the Company’s operations and manages its business in one operating segment, which is the research and development in the
pharmaceutical sector with a focus on developing novel therapeutics to treat cancer.
Tax credit on investments in research and development

In line with the legislation in force at December 31, 2022, and for the financial year 2023, companies in Italy that invest in eligible research and
development activities, regardless of the legal form and economic sector in which they operate, can benefit from a tax credit which can be used in order to
reduce most taxes payable, including income tax or regional tax on productive activities, as well as social security contributions and payroll withholding
taxes.

For eligible research and development activities, the tax credit was equal to 20% in fiscal year 2022 (“FY 2022”) of the eligible costs incurred,
with a maximum annual amount of €4.0 million. Starting with the fiscal year 2023 (“FY 2023”) the law extended the measure up to the tax period ended
December 31, 2031; however, the tax credit rate was decreased to 10% of the eligible expenses, and the annual ceiling of the credit increased to €5.0

million.

The eligible activities consist of fundamental research, industrial research, and experimental development as defined respectively of the letters m),
q) and j) of point 15, par. 1.3 of the Communication no. 198/2014 of the European Commission.

To determine the cost basis of the benefit, the following expenses are eligible:
e Personnel costs;

e Depreciation charges, costs of the financial or simple lease and other expenses related to movable tangible assets and software used in
research and development projects;

e Expenses for extra-euro research contracts concerning the direct execution of eligible research and development activities by the provider;
e Expenses for consulting services and equivalent services related to eligible research and development activities; and

e Expenses for materials, supplies, and other similar products used in research and development projects.




The Company, by analogy, accounts for this receivable in accordance with International Accounting Standards (IAS) 20, Accounting for
Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance. The receivable is recognized when there is reasonable assurance that: (1) the recipient will
comply with the relevant conditions; and (2) the grant will be received. The Company has elected to present it net of the related expenditure on the
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

While these tax credits can be carried forward indefinitely, the Company recognized an amount which reflects management’s best estimate of the
amount that is reasonably assured to be realized or utilized in the foreseeable future based on historical benefits realized, adjusted for expected changes, as
applicable. The tax credits are recorded as an offset to research and development expenses in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive loss.

Share-based compensation

To reward the efforts of employees, officers, directors, and certain consultants, and to promote the Company’s growth and development, the Board
may approve, upon occasion, various share-based awards.

In May 2021, the Company’s quotaholders adopted the Company’s “Equity Incentive Plan 2021-2025” (“the Plan”); however, through December
31, 2021, no options or awards were granted and there were no outstanding options or awards.

In April 2022, the Board, as administrator of the Plan, awarded nonqualified stock options (“NSOs”) on 147,783 shares to its (former) Chairman
according to the terms of a sub-plan called “2021-2025 Chairman Sub-Plan” (the “Sub-Plan”) attached to the Plan.

In July 2022, the Board, as administrator of the Plan, awarded NSOs on 392,740 shares to certain of the Company’s directors and employees.
In March 2023, the Board, as administrator of the Plan, awarded NSOs on 46,400 shares to certain of the Company’s directors.

In June 2023, the Company’s shareholders modified the Plan to extend the final deadline for the issuance of the ordinary shares until December
31, 2035, in order to allow that all stock options granted during the term of the Plan could provide for an exercise period of 10 years starting from the date
of grant. (See Note 11. Share-based compensation.)

Currently, the Company has authorized options on 1,821,685 ordinary shares (i.e., 10% of the number of shares outstanding, which was
18,216,858 ordinary shares outstanding at June 30, 2023); however, at the quotaholders’ meeting held on May 20, 2021, the quotaholders approved an
increase to the Plan of up to a maximum of options on 2,700,000 ordinary shares. Therefore, as the Company raises additional capital, the Board has
authority to issue options on 1,821,685 to 2,700,000 ordinary shares, as the number of issued and outstanding ordinary shares grows, i.e., the Company
does not have to obtain further authorization from shareholders to increase the number of ordinary shares available for equity grants until the outstanding
ordinary shares exceed 27,000,000. At June 30, 2023, there were 586,923 options granted and 1,234,762 options available for grant.

The Company measures its stock option awards granted to employees, officers, directors, and consultants under the Plan based on their fair value
on the date of the grant and recognizes compensation expense for those awards over the requisite service period, which is normally the vesting period of the
respective award. Forfeitures are accounted for as they occur. The measurement date for option awards is the date of the grant. The Company classifies
stock-based compensation expense in its Consolidated Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Loss in the same manner in which the award
recipient’s payroll costs are classified or in which the award recipient’s service payments are classified.

The Company chose The Black-Scholes-Merton model because it is considered easier to apply and also it is a defined equation and incorporates
only one set of inputs. As a result, it is the model most commonly in use.




Representative warrants

Upon the closing of the Company’s IPO, the Company issued 23,502 warrants to the underwriters of the offering (“Warrants”). The Warrants are
exercisable at a per share exercise price equal to 125% of the public offering price (i.e., $14.375) per ADS sold in the IPO. The Warrants are exercisable at
any time and from time to time, in whole or in part, during the four and one-half-year period commencing June 13, 2022. The Warrants will provide for
adjustment in the number and price of the Warrants and the ADSs underlying such Warrants in the event of recapitalization, merger, stock split or other
structural transaction, or a future financing undertaken by the Company. The Warrants were evaluated under applicable guidance and accordingly classified
as equity in the consolidated financial statements.

Non-current assets right of use (“ROU”)

Upon commencement of a contract containing a lease, the Company classifies leases other than short-term leases as either an operating lease or a
finance lease according to the criteria prescribed by ASC 842. The Company recognizes both lease liabilities and right-of-use assets on the balance sheet
for all leases, except for short-term leases (those with a lease term of 12 months or less). Lease liabilities are initially measured at the present value of the
future lease payments over the lease term, discounted at the rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate is not readily determinable, the Company’s incremental
borrowing rate. The right-of-use assets represent the lessee’s right to use the underlying asset for the lease term and are initially measured at the same
amount as the corresponding lease liability. For finance leases, the Company recognizes interest expense on the lease liability and amortization expense on
the right-of-use asset. For operating leases, lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

In February 2022, the Company entered into a four-year (i.e., 48 month) lease of an automobile, with an ending date of January 2026. The “base”
annual lease payment is €13,967 payable monthly in the amount of €1,164. The lease payment will remain fixed for the four (4) years. The automobile
lease was identified and accounted for as a finance type lease.

For the initial measurement, the calculation of the net present value of the right of use asset and liability was made by using the discounted rate of
6.25% and was determined to be approximately €49,320. Lessee initial direct costs were deemed not material. Other non-lease component costs for lease
insurance was accounted for separately from the lease. At June 30 2023, the net present value of the ROU asset and liability amounted to approximately
€33,240. The liability was determined to be €12,236 as a current liability and €21,004 as a long-term liability.

Fixed Assets

Fixed assets include software and equipment. Software relates to customized development that involved information technology infrastructure security and
the Company’s new enterprise resource planning (“ERP”) platform that was implemented during the last quarter of 2022 and went into production in
January 2023. Software is amortized on straight line basis. Equipment includes: computers, office furniture and electronic machines. Equipment is stated at
cost, including any accessory and direct costs that are necessary to make the assets fit for use, and adjusted by the corresponding accumulated depreciation.
The depreciation rates recorded in the consolidated financial statements have been calculated by taking into consideration the use, purpose, and financial-
technical duration of the assets, based on their estimated useful economic lives. The Company believes the above criteria to be represented by the following
estimated useful lives:

e Equipment & furniture: 15 years;
e Electronic office equipment: 10 years;
e Leasehold improvements: based on the shorter of the life of the leasehold improvement or the remaining term of the lease; and
e Software: amortized based on agreement.
Ordinary maintenance costs are expensed to the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss in the year in which they are
incurred. Extraordinary maintenance costs, the purpose of which is to extend the useful economic life of the asset, to technologically upgrade it and/or to
increase its productivity or safety for the purpose of economic productivity of the Company, are attributed to the asset to which they refer and depreciated

on the basis of its estimated useful economic life. Amortization of leasehold improvements is computed using the straight-line method based upon the
terms of the applicable lease or estimated useful life of the improvements, whichever is less.




Impairment of long-lived assets

In accordance with ASC Topic 360-10-20, “Property, Plant and Equipment,” the Company performs an impairment test whenever events or
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of long-lived assets with finite lives may be impaired. Impairment is measured by comparing the carrying
value of the long-lived assets to the estimated undiscounted pre-tax cash flows expected to result from the use of such assets and their ultimate disposition.
In circumstances where impairment is determined to exist, the Company will write-down the asset to its fair value based on the present value of estimated
cash flows. To date, no impairments have been identified for the six months ended June 30, 2023, and June 30, 2022.

Recently issued accounting pronouncements

In April 2012, the JOBS Act was signed into law. The JOBS Act contains provisions that, among other things, reduce certain reporting
requirements for an emerging growth company. As an emerging growth company, the Company may elect to adopt new or revised accounting standards
when they become effective for non-public companies, which typically is later than when public companies must adopt the standards. The Company has
elected to take advantage of the extended transition period afforded by the JOBS Act and, as a result, unless the Company elects early adoption of any
standards, will adopt the new or revised accounting standards on the relevant dates on which adoption of such standards is required for non-public
companies.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes: Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes. The new standard intended to
simplify the accounting for income taxes by eliminating certain exceptions related to the approach for intra-period tax allocation, the methodology for
calculating income taxes in an interim period and the recognition of deferred tax liabilities for outside basis differences. The new guidance also simplifies
aspects of the accounting for franchise taxes and enacted changes in tax laws or rates and clarifies the accounting for transactions that result in a step-up in
the tax basis of goodwill. For non-public entities, the standard is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2021, with early adoption
permitted. Adoption of the standard requires certain changes to primarily be made prospectively, with some changes to be made retrospectively. The
Company adopted this guidance for the reporting period beginning January 1, 2022, which did not have a material impact on its financial statements or
disclosures.

In November 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-10, Government Assistance (Topic 832), Disclosures by Business Entities about Government
Assistance. The aim of ASU 2021-10 is to increase the transparency of government assistance including the disclosure of (1) the types of assistance, (2) an
entity’s accounting for the assistance, and (3) the effect of the assistance on an entity’s financial statements. Diversity currently exists in the recognition,
measurement, presentation, and disclosure of government assistance received by business entities because of the lack of specific authoritative guidance in
U.S. GAAP. The ASU will be effective for annual reporting periods after December 15, 2021, and early adoption is permitted. Upon implementation, the
Company may use either a prospective or retrospective method of adoption when adopting the ASU. The Company adopted this guidance for the reporting
period beginning January 1, 2022, which did not have a material impact on its financial statements or disclosures.

In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06, Debt—Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging
—Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40): Accounting for Convertible Instruments and Contracts in an Entity’s Own Equity. This ASU
amends the guidance on convertible instruments and the derivatives scope exception for contracts in an entity’s own equity and improves and amends the
related EPS guidance for both Subtopics. The ASU will be effective for annual reporting periods after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within those
annual periods and early adoption is permitted in fiscal periods ending after December 15, 2020. Upon implementation, the Company may use either a
modified retrospective or full retrospective method of adoption. The Company is evaluating the impact of adopting the new ASU.




3. Research and development

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Research and development expenses consist of costs incurred in performing research
and development activities, including salaries, share-based compensation and benefits, facilities costs, third-party license fees, and external costs of outside
vendors and consultants engaged to conduct clinical development activities and clinical trials, (e.g., contract research organizations [or “CROs”]), as well
as costs to develop manufacturing processes, perform analytical testing and manufacture clinical trial materials, (e.g., contract manufacturing organizations
[or “CMOs”]). Non-refundable prepayments for goods or services that will be used or rendered for future research and development activities are recorded
as prepaid expenses. Such amounts are recognized as an expense as the goods are delivered or the related services are performed, or until it is no longer
expected that the goods will be delivered, or the services rendered. In addition, funding from research grants, if any, is recognized as an offset to research
and development expense based on costs incurred on the research program.

The Company annually sustains a significant amount of research costs to meet its business objectives. The Company has various research and
development contracts, and the related costs are recorded as research and development expenses as incurred. When billing terms under these contracts do
not coincide with the timing of when the work is performed, the Company is required to make estimates of outstanding obligations at period end to those
third parties. Any accrual estimates are based on several factors, including the Company’s knowledge of the progress towards completion of the research
and development activities, invoicing to date under the contracts, communication from the research institution or other companies of any actual costs
incurred during the period that have not yet been invoiced, and the costs included in the contracts. Significant judgments and estimates may be made in
determining the accrued balances at the end of any reporting period. Actual results could differ from the estimates made by the Company. The historical
accrual estimates made by the Company have not been materially different from the actual costs. For further details, please refer to the Related Parties
disclosures in Note 12 below.

4. General and administrative

General and administrative costs consist primarily of salaries, share-based compensation, benefits and other related costs for personnel and
consultants in the Company’s executive and finance functions, professional fees for legal, finance, accounting, auditing, tax and consulting services, travel
expenses and facility-related expenses, which include rent and maintenance of facilities and other operating costs not otherwise included in research and
development expense.

5. Income taxes

The Company is subject to taxation in Italy, and with the addition of the US Subsidiary, the Company is subject to taxation in the United States.
Taxation in Italy includes the standard corporate income tax (“IRES”) and a regional business tax (“IRAP”). Taxation in the United States includes federal
corporate income tax (“IRS”), as well as state and local taxes. Taxes are recorded on an accrual basis. They therefore represent the allowances for taxes
paid or to be paid for the year, calculated according to the current enacted rates and applicable laws. In the future, the Company may be taxed in various
other countries where it may have permanent establishments, as applicable. Due to the tax loss position reported, no income taxes were accrued for the six
months ending June 30, 2023, and June 30, 2022, in Italy or the United States. At June 30, 2023, the US Subsidiary had an immaterial amount of other state
taxes.

The Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting for deferred income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognized for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the carrying amounts and the tax basis of assets and liabilities,
measured at tax rates expected to be enacted at the time of their reversals. These temporary differences primarily relate to net operating losses carried
forward available to offset future taxable income.

At each reporting date, the Company considers existing evidence, both positive and negative, that could impact its view with regards to future
realization of deferred tax assets. In consideration of the start-up status of the Company, a valuation allowance has been established to offset the deferred
tax assets, as the related realization is currently uncertain. In the future, should the Company conclude that it is more likely than not that the deferred tax
assets are partially or fully realizable, the valuation allowance will be reduced to the extent of such expected realization, and the corresponding amount will
be recognized as income tax benefit in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.




The Company recognizes tax liabilities from an uncertain tax position if it is more likely than not that the tax position will not be sustained upon
examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the tax position. There are no uncertain tax positions that have been recognized in
the accompanying consolidated financial statements. For the Company, the prior five years of tax returns (2018-2022) are potentially subject to audit. For
the US Subsidiary, the open years for tax examination are 2021 and 2022, since the US Subsidiary was formed in 2021.

At June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2022, the Company believes there were no significant differences with regards to its deferred tax assets and its
relevant components, compared to the computations of the preceding periods.

In 2011, the Italian tax authorities issued a set of rules that modified the previous treatment of tax loss carryforwards. According to DL 98/2011, at
the end of 2011, all existing tax loss carryforwards will never expire but they can off-set only 80% of the taxable income of the year. The rules do not affect
the tax loss carryforward that refer to the start-up period, defined as the first three (3) years of operations starting from the inception of the Company. The
impact of the updated calculation of tax losses carryforward at December 31, 2021 and 2020 is deemed not significant with respect of the preceding
periods.

The Company has analyzed its tax position by determining the amount of tax losses that can be carried forward indefinitely and has decided to
accrue an allowance for related deferred tax assets as the Company is in a situation of pre-revenues that is destined to remain in the long run and there is no
certainty of the future recoverability of such tax losses through tax relevant incomes. Future taxable profits for the Company depend on the manufacture of
marketable drugs following the successful completion of the clinical trial. Since the clinical trial is still in a Phase 1/2a, the time frame and uncertainties
regarding the outcome of the completion justify the full allowance of deferred tax assets.

6. Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consist of the following:

At June 30, At December 31,
2023 2022

(in Euros) (Unaudited)

Value added tax (VAT) € 1,200,383 € 912,423
Research and development tax credit 734,921 650,000
Advances payments to suppliers 32,849 41,149
Other current assets 693 219,400
Other prepaids 335,387 103,540
Total € 2,304,233 € 1,926,512

Value added tax (“VAT”) receivables are linked to purchases. Italian VAT (Imposta sul Valore Aggiunto) applies to the supply of goods and
services carried out in Italy by entrepreneurs, professionals, or artists and on imports carried out by anyone. Intra-Community acquisitions are also subject
to VAT under certain situations. The Italian standard VAT rate for 2023 and 2022 is 22%. Reduced rates are provided for specifically listed supplies of
goods and services. It is carried forward indefinitely and does not expire. Based on the historical timing and amounts of VAT tax credit reimbursement
received by the Company, at June 30, 2023, the Company reclassified to other non-current assets a portion of the receivable which is expected to be
realized beyond 12 months.

Tax credits on research and development represent a special tax relief offered to Italian companies operating in the research and development
sector and can be used to offset most taxes payable. The Company has a total research and development tax credit available to be used of approximately
€4.2 million at June 30, 2023, which can be carried forward indefinitely and does not expire. However, given the start-up status of the Company, and the
fact that it will not be profitable in the foreseeable future (which limits the utilization of the credit), the Company recognized a receivable balance that
represents the Company’s best estimate of the amount of tax credit that can be used in offsetting taxes payable by March 31, 2025. This estimate is
consistent with the Company’s most updated cash budget utilization projections approved by the Board in March 2023. According to the budget approved,
the Company’s available cash as of June 30, 2023, together with our investment in short term marketable securities, is deemed more than sufficient to cover
the operating activities through at least the first quarter of 2025, without additional financing or other management plans.




During the six months ended June 30, 2023, the Company utilized approximately €0.4 million to offset certain social contributions and taxes
payable, while during the six months ended June 30, 2022, the Company utilized approximately €0.3 million. In addition, the recorded benefit for the six
months ended June 30, 2023, and June 30, 2022, was approximately €0.4 and €0.7 million, respectively, to offset research and development expenses. The
Company reclassified to other non-current assets a portion of the receivable, which is expected to be realized beyond 12 months. (See Note 8. Other non-
current assets.)

At June 30, 2023, Other prepaid expenses mainly relate to: i) the directors and officers (“D&0O”) insurance policy paid in January 2023 of
approximately €0.2 million; ii) prepaid expenses of approximately €0.2 million recorded to adjust the manufacturing expenses accrued during the six
months ended June 30, 2023, for the actual statement of work confirmed by the manufacturer; and iii) other minor amounts related to miscellaneous types
of service agreements.

7. Fixed assets, net

Fixed assets consist of the following:

At June 30, At December 31,
2023 2022

(in Euros) (Unaudited)

Software (ERP Implementation) € 87,800 € 87,800
Computers 37,490 31,307
Furniture and fixtures 10,930 4,676
Total fixed assets 136,220 123,783
Less: accumulated depreciation (33,287) (12,144)
Property and equipment, net € 102,933 € 111,639

For the period ended June 30, 2023, software was €87,800 and includes software customization and development costs related to information
technology security infrastructure and the new ERP system.

Equipment consists of computers and furniture and fixtures of our office space in Milan, Italy. There were no disposals, nor impairments during
the periods. Depreciation has been calculated by taking into consideration the use, purpose, and financial-technical duration of the assets, based on their
estimated economic lives. No significant purchases occurred during the six months ended June 30, 2023.

8. Other non-current assets

Other non-current assets consist as follows:

At June 30, At December 31,
2023 2022
(in Euros) (Unaudited)
Value added tax (VAT) € 1,325,414 € 912,424
Research and development tax credit 565,078 650,000
Other non-current assets 213,240 39,079
Total € 2,103,732 € 1,601,503

The VAT tax credit matured in 2022 and became eligible for reimbursement in the first six months 2023. As of June 30, 2023, the reimbursement
had not been received, even though it was requested during the six months ended June 30, 2023.

The research and development tax credit decreased in 2023. The percentage of eligible research and development expense was reduced from 20%
in 2022 to 10% in 2023.

Other non-current assets — include the ROU asset for the car lease in the amount of €33,240 along with the allowance for corporate equity
(“ACE”) of approximately €0.2 million.

Other non-current assets - related party includes a security deposit of €3,350 paid to OSR as a security guarantee for the office lease. (See Note 13.
Commitments and contingencies.)




9. Retirement benefit obligation

Employees in Italy are entitled to Trattamento di Fine Rapporto (“TFR”), commonly referred to as an employee leaving indemnity, which
represents deferred compensation for employees in the private sector. Under Italian law, an entity is obligated to accrue for TFR on an individual employee
basis payable to each individual upon termination of employment (including both voluntary and involuntary dismissal). The annual accrual is
approximately 7% of total pay, with no ceiling, and is revalued each year by applying a pre-established rate of return of 1.50%, plus 75% of the Consumer
Price Index, and is recorded by a book reserve. TFR is an unfunded plan. The costs of the retirement benefit obligation are accounted for under the
provisions of ASC 715, Compensation — Retirement Benefits.

The amount of the obligation at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 was €129,449 and €88,963, respectively.
10. Shareholders’ equity

After the Company conversion from an S.r.l. to an S.p.A. effective from June 2021, the outstanding ordinary shares of the Company since
December 31, 2021, has been 18,216,858, no par value. All shares outstanding are held in ledger form with some of the ordinary shares represented by
ADSs.

During the six months ended June 30, 2022, the Company granted a fully vested NSO on April 26, 2022 to its chairman at a price based on the
Sub-Plan. The expense was recorded in the statement of operations and comprehensive loss for the six months ended June 30, 2022 in the amount of
€240,043.

In July 2022, the Company granted NSOs on 392,740 shares to certain of the Company’s directors and employees.
In March 2023, the Company awarded NSOs on 46,400 shares to certain of the Company’s directors.

In June 2023, the Company’s shareholders reduced the number of directors from seven (7) to five (5) and modified the Plan to extend the final
deadline for the issuance of the ordinary shares until December 31, 2035, in order to allow that all stock options granted during the term of the Plan could
provide for an exercise period of 10 years starting from the date of grant. (See Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies & Note 11. Share-based
compensation.)

11. Share-based compensation

In April 2021, the Company granted options on its corporate capital to certain directors, officers, employees, and consultants, as an incentive and
as additional compensation prior to the Company’s conversion to an S.p.A.

In June 2021, the date of the Company’s conversion to an S.p.A., all stock options were granted, fully vested, exercised and converted into
ordinary shares with no par value, so that at December 31, 2021 there were no outstanding stock options.

In April 2022, the Board, as administrator of the Plan, awarded a NSO on 147,783 shares to its (former) Chairman according to the terms of the
Sub-Plan attached to the Plan. The NSO was fully vested upon grant and carried a two- year exercise term. The exercise price of the NSO is €6.38 per
share, as pre-determined in the Sub-Plan.

In July 2022, the Board, as administrator of the Plan, awarded NSOs on 392,740 shares to certain of the Company’s directors, officers, and
employees. The director NSOs vested monthly over a one-year period with a 10-year term. The officer and employee NSOs vested monthly over a four-
year period with a 10-year term; however, the vesting of the officer NSOs were adjusted based on hire date per their employment contracts. All NSOs were
priced based on a 30-day volume weighted average formula, adjusted by Black-Scholes, which was determined to be $4.76 per share.




In March 2023, the Board, as administrator of the Plan, awarded NSOs on 46,400 shares to the Company’s directors. The NSOs vested monthly
over a one (1) year period with a 10-year term. All NSOs were priced based on a 30-day volume weighted average formula, adjusted by Black-Scholes,
which was determined to be $5.62 per share.

At June 30, 2023, there were 586,923 granted stock options and 1,234,762 stock options available for grant.

The Company calculates the fair value of stock option awards granted to employees and non-employees using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
method. If the Company determinates that other methods are more reasonable, or other methods for calculating these assumptions are prescribed by
regulators, the fair value calculated for the Company’s stock options could change significantly. Higher volatility and longer expected lives would result in
an increase to share-based compensation expense to non-employees determined at the date of grant. Share-based compensation expense to non-employees
affects the Company’s general and administrative expenses and research and development expenses.

The Company calculated the share compensation expense for the options granted by utilizing the Black Scholes method with the following inputs
for each of the stock grants from March 2023, July 2022, and April 2022:

The option’s exercise price.

The option’s expected term.

The underlying share’s current price.

The underlying share’s expected price volatility during the option’s expected (or in certain cases, contractual) term, or in cases where

calculated value is used, the historical volatility of an appropriate industry sector index.

e The underlying share’s expected dividends during the option’s expected (or in certain cases, contractual) term except cases, such as when
dividend protection is provided; and

e The risk-free interest rate during the option’s expected (or in certain cases, contractual) term.

Weighted
Average
Weighted Remaining
Number of Average Exercise Contractual Term Aggregate
Options Price (Years) Intrinsic Value

Outstanding as of January 1, 2022 - - = -
Granted 540,523 € 4.99 730 € 272,480
Vested and exercised = - - -
Cancelled or forfeited - - - _

Outstanding as of December 31, 2022 540,523 € 4.99 730 € 272,480
Exercisable as of December 31, 2022 237,129 € 5.66 442 € 61,988
Outstanding, expected to vest as of December

31, 2022 303,394 € 4.67 9.55 € 210,492
Outstanding as of January 1, 2023 540,523 € 4.99 7.30 € 272,480
Granted 46,400 5.30 9.67 11,551

Vested and exercised = = - -
Cancelled or forfeited - - - -

Outstanding as of June 30, 2023 586,923 € 4.93 7.03 € 420,738
Exercisable as of June 30, 2023 318,459 € 5.30 527 € 165,728
Outstanding, expected to vest as of June 30,

2023 268,464 € 4.48 9.13 € 255,010




The Company’s share-based compensation expense for the period ended June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2022 is represented by the following table:

Research & development expense
Research & development expense - related party
General & administrative expense
General & administrative expense- related party

Total

Unrecognized expense

Six Months Ended June 30,

2023 2022
€ 37,718 € -
298,333 240,043
80,381 -
€ 415,433 € 240,043
€ 1,471,743 € -

For the periods ended June 30, 2023, and June 30, 2022, the Company recorded €415,433 and €240,043, respectively, as the fair value of the stock
options granted. The amount of unrecognized expense at June 30, 2023 was €1,471,743. There was no amount of unrecognized expense at June 30, 2022 as
the options vested immediately and all expenses were recognized during the period.

The weighted average grant date fair value of the options granted during the six months ended June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2022 was €5.30 and

€6.38 per share respectively.

Weighted average shares

The calculation was performed by taking the number of shares outstanding during a given period and weighting them for the number of days that
number of shares were outstanding. For the six months ended June 30, 2023, and June 30, 2022, respectively, there was a weighted average of 18,216,858
shares of the Company’s ordinary shares, no par value, since there was no change in the number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period.

12. Related parties

The Company’s research and development expenses are a combination of third-party expenses, and related party expenses, as detailed below:

(in Euros)

Consultants & other third parties
Materials & supplies

Compensation (including share-based)
Travel & entertainment

Other

Total
(in Euros)
Consultants & other third parties
Materials & supplies

Compensation (including share-based)
Travel & entertainment
Other

Total

Six Months Ended June 30, 2023

Third Parties Related Parties Total
(Unaudited)

€ 150,402 € 72,500 € 222,902

2,464,107 660,863 3,124,970

212,003 330,796 542,799

27,892 - 27,892

3,239 - 3,239

€ 2,857,643 € 1,064,159 € 3,921,802

Six Months Ended June 30, 2022

Third Parties Related Parties Total
(Unaudited)

€ 298,265 € 40,000 € 338,265
837,098 - 837,098

162,167 215,761 377,928

65,938 - 65,938

21,350 - 21,350

€ 1,384,818 € 255,761 € 1,640,579

Related party research and development expenses refer specifically to the costs of preclinical and clinical activities charged by OSR. The increase
in related party expenses in the first six months ended June 2023 is mainly due to the Company’s new amended and restated license agreement with OSR
(see Note 12. Related parties) and the reduction of the R&D tax credit compensation effect. (See Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies.)




The Company’s general and administrative expenses are also a combination of third-party and related party expenses, as detailed below:

(In Euros)

Compensation (including share-based)
Accounting, legal & other professional
Facility & insurance related
Consultants & other third parties
Other

Total

(In Euros)

Compensation (including share-based)
Accounting, legal & other professional
Facility & insurance related
Consultants & other third parties
Other

Total

Six Months Ended June 30, 2023

The Company’s accounts payable to related parties are comprised as follows:

(in Euros)

San Raffaele Hospital (OSR)
Carlo Russo

Richard Slansky

Total

The Company’s accrued expenses to related parties are comprised as follows:

(in Euros)

San Raffaele Hospital (OSR)
Pierluigi Paracchi

Richard Slansky

Carlo Russo

Total

Third Parties Related Parties Total
(Unaudited)
697,228 € 673,795 1,371,023
720,989 - 720,989
2,868 8,171 11,039
314,059 - 314,059
460,320 943 461,263
2,195,464 € 682,909 2,878,373
Six Months Ended June 30, 2022
Third Parties Related Parties Total
(Unaudited)
522,012 € 421,558 943,570
376,642 - 376,642
3,873 7,457 11,330
384,243 - 384,243
794,248 3,525 797,773
2,081,018 € 432,540 2,513,558
At June 30, At December 31,
2023 2022
(Unaudited)
€ 130,220 € 150,206
- 198
- 1,584
€ 130,220 € 151,988
At June 30 At December 31
2023 2022
(Unaudited)
€ 401,562 € 176,559
84,000 112,501
62,922 81,369
83,897 118,778
€ 632,381 € 489,207




The Company has identified the following related parties:
e Pierluigi Paracchi (director and co-founder of the Company);
e Luigi Naldini (co-founder of the Company and executive scientific board chairman);
e Bernard Rudolph Gentner (co-founders of the Company and member of scientific advisory board);
e (Carlo Russo (Chief Medical Officer);
e Richard Slansky (Chief Financial Officer);

® Ospedale San Raffaele (co-founder of the Company, shareholder, main service provider for clinical activity and licensor of brands of any product
that can be obtained through research).

These parties could exercise significant influence on the Company’s strategic decisions, behavior, and future plans.
The following is a description of the nature of the transactions between the Company and these related parties:
Pierluigi Paracchi

Mr. Pierluigi Paracchi, President and Chairman of the Company prior to the conversion, is the current Chief Executive Officer, Vice-Chairman, as
well as co-founder. His current employment arrangement with the Company provides an annual gross salary of €420,000 plus a 40% annual bonus subject
to Board approval. Mr. Paracchi also has use of a Company car, for which the Company entered an operating lease agreement in February 2022.

In April 2022, Mr. Paracchi received a bonus of €50,000 (gross amount), of which €23,000 related to the activity performed in the second half of
2021 and €37,000 for the activity performed following the IPO in the first few months of 2022. In July 2022, the Board approved an increase in Mr.
Paracchi’s bonus from 20% to 40% effective January 1, 2023.

In March 2023, Mr. Paracchi was paid a bonus of approximately €112,000 (gross amount), related to the activity performed in 2022. The bonus
was accrued in 2022.

For the six months ended June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2022, the Company expensed approximately €303,000 and €248,000, respectively, related to
compensation for Mr. Paracchi. As of June 30, 2023, the Company accrued €84,000 for Mr. Paracchi’s bonus to reward the activity performed in 2023.

Luigi Naldini/Bernard Rudolph Gentner

Drs. Luigi Naldini and Bernhard Gentner are co-founders of Genenta and part of the Scientific Advisory Board (“SAB”), with Dr. Naldini as
Chairman, and Dr. Gentner as a member. The Company has consulting agreements with each of Drs. Naldini and Gentner.

Dr. Naldini oversees the pre-clinical studies for the Company, specifically, in solid tumor indications. The consulting agreement with Dr. Naldini
provided for an annual fee of €50,000 until June 30, 2022. Starting July 1, 2022, a new agreement with Dr. Naldini was executed, which includes an annual
fee of €100,000. As of June 30, 2023, Dr. Naldini billed €50,000, and all the issued invoices were paid before June 30, 2023.

Dr. Gentner, like Dr. Naldini, oversees pre-clinical research related to the Company’s platform technology and in addition, he analyzes clinical
biological data. The consulting agreement with Dr. Gentner provided for an annual fee of €30,000 until June 30, 2022. An amendment of the same started
on July 1, 2022, providing new fees in the amount of €45,000 per year. As of June 30, 2023, Dr. Gentner billed €22,500 and all the issued invoices were
paid before June 30, 2023.




Carlo Russo

Dr. Carlo Russo serves the Company as Chief Medical Officer and Head of Development. Dr. Russo is responsible for the clinical development of
Temferon™, the Company’s gene therapy platform.

From the IPO date, Dr. Russo has been employed by the US Subsidiary with the same title, role and responsibilities under an employment
agreement that provides an annual gross salary of $500,000, plus a 30% bonus subject to Board approval.

For the six months ended June 30, 2023, and June 30, 2022, the Company expensed approximately €331,000 and €215,761, respectively, related to
compensation for Dr. Russo. At June 30, 2023, the Company accrued €83,897 for Dr. Russo’s compensation and bonus to reward the activity performed in
2023.

Richard Slansky

Mr. Richard Slansky is the Chief Financial Officer of the Company. In 2022, pursuant to his employment agreement, Mr. Slansky was entitled to
receive a gross annual compensation of $300,000 per year + 30% annual bonus subject to Board approval. Beginning January 1, 2023, the Board adjusted
Mr. Slansky’s gross annual compensation and it was increased to $375,000 plus a 30% annual bonus (subject to Board approval).

In July 2022, Mr. Slansky was awarded a stock option grant and part of it was immediately vested, with value accrued into the Company’s
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss of approximately €80,381.

For the six months ended June 30, 2023, and June 30, 2022, the Company expensed approximately €253,000 and €173,317, respectively, related to
compensation for Mr. Slansky. As of June 30, 2023, the Company accrued approximately €62,922 for Mr. Slansky’s compensation and bonus to reward the
activity performed in 2023.

OSR - San Raffaele Hospital

OSR - San Raffaele Hospital is a co-founder of the Company and a shareholder with an ownership greater than 5%, and the Company is a
corporate and research spin-off of OSR. OSR is one of the leading biomedical research institutions in Italy and Europe, with a 45-year history of
developing innovative therapies and procedures. The Company has agreements to license technology, to perform research, pre-clinical and clinical
activities, as well as to lease facilities and obtain certain other support functions. The Company’s headquarters is currently located in an OSR facility.

Amended and Restated OSR License Agreement

The Company entered into an amended and restated license agreement (the “Amended and Restated OSR License Agreement” or “ARLA”) with
OSR in March 2023. The ARLA replaced the Company’s original License Agreement originally entered into with OSR on December 15, 2014, as
subsequently amended on March 16, 2017, February 1, 2019, December 23, 2020, September 28, 2021, January 22, 2022, September 29, 2022 and
December 22, 2022 (the “Original OSR License Agreement”).

The effectiveness of the ARLA was subject to Italy’s Law Decree No. 21 of March 15, 2012 (i.e., the Italian Golden Power regulations), as
subsequently amended and supplemented, and would not become effective until the applicable Italian governmental authority consented to the ARLA. On
April 20, 2023, such consent was received and the ARLA became effective.

Pursuant to the terms of the ARLA, OSR has granted the Company an exclusive, royalty-bearing, non-transferrable (except with the prior written
consent of OSR), sublicensable, worldwide license, subject to certain retained rights, to (1) certain patents, patent applications and existing know-how for
the use in the field(s) of Interferon (“IFN”) gene therapy by lentiviral based-hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells (“HSPC”) gene transfer with respect to
(a) any solid cancer indication (including glioblastoma and solid liver cancer) and/or (b) any lympho-hematopoietic indication for which the Company
exercises an option (described below); and (2) certain gene therapy products (subject to certain specified exceptions related to replication competent
viruses) developed during the license term for use in the aforementioned field(s) consisting of any lentivirals or other viral vectors regulated by miR126
and/or miR130 and/or other miRs with the same expression pattern as miR126 and miR130 in hematopoietic cells for the expression of IFN under the
control of a Tie2 promoter. Lympho-hematopoietic indication means any indication related to lympho-hematopoietic malignancies and solid cancer
indication means any solid cancer indication (e.g., without limitation, breast, pancreas, colon cancer), with each affected human organ counting as a
specific solid cancer indication.




The rights retained by OSR, and extending to its affiliates, include the right to use the licensed technology for internal research within the field(s)
of use, the right to use the licensed technology within the field(s) of use other than in relation to the licensed products, and the right to use the licensed
technology for any use outside the field(s) of use, but subject to the options described below. In addition, the Company granted OSR a perpetual,
worldwide, royalty-free, non-exclusive license to any improvement generated by the Company with respect to the licensed technology, to conduct internal
research within the field(s) of use directly, or in or with the collaboration third parties; and, for any use outside the field(s) of use, in which case the license
is sublicensable by OSR. Finally, the world-wide rights for the field(s) of use granted to the Company regarding the Lentigen know-how are non-exclusive
and cannot be sublicensed due to a pre-existing nonexclusive sublicense to these rights between OSR and GlaxoSmithKline Intellectual Property
Development Limited.

Pursuant to the ARLA, the Company has an exclusive option exercisable until April 20, 2026 (the “OPI Option Period”) to any OSR product
improvements at no additional cost, which could be useful for the development and/or commercialization of licensed products in the field of use (the “OPI
Option”). The Company also has an exclusive option exercisable until April 20, 2026 (the “LHI Option Period”) to any lympho-hematopoietic indication(s)
to be included as part of the field of use, on an indication-by-indication basis, subject to the payment of specified option fees and milestone payments (the
“LHI Option”):

e £1.0 million for the first lympho-hematopoietic indication;
e €0.5 million for the second lympho-hematopoietic indication; and
e  €0.3 million for the third lympho-hematopoietic indication.

No Option Fee is due for the fourth lympho-hematopoietic indication and any subsequent lympho-hematopoietic indications.

The Company has the right to extend the LHI Option Period twice for additional 12-month periods, subject to the payment of specified extension
fees.

Prior to the effective date of the ARLA, the Company paid OSR an upfront fee in amount equal to €250,000 pursuant to the Original OSR License
Agreement.

Pursuant to the ARLA, as consideration, the Company agreed to pay OSR additional license fees equal to up to €875,000 in total.

In addition, the Company has agreed to pay OSR royalties and certain milestone events as described in more detail in Note 13. Commitments and
contingencies.

As part of the ARLA, the Company has agreed to use reasonable efforts to involve OSR in Phase I clinical trials for licensed products in the field
of use, subject to OSR maintaining any required quality standards and providing its services on customary and reasonable terms and consistent with then-
applicable market standards. (See Note 13. Commitments and contingencies.)

OSR maintains control of the preparation, prosecution and maintenance of the patents licensed. The Company is obligated to pay those costs
unless additional licensees benefit from these rights, in which case the cost will be shared pro rata. OSR controls enforcement of the patents and know-how
rights, at its own expense. In the event that OSR fails to file suit to enforce such rights after notice from the Company, the Company has the right to enforce
the licensed technology within the field of use. Both the Company and OSR must consent to settlement of any such litigation, and all monies recovered will
be shared, after reimbursement for costs, in relation to the damages suffered by each party, or failing a bona fide agreement between the Company and
OSR, on a 50% - 50% basis.




The ARLA expires upon the expiry of the “Royalty Term” for all licensed products and all countries, unless terminated earlier. The Royalty Term
begins on the first commercial sale of a licensed product in each country, on a country by country basis, and ends upon the later of the (a) expiration of the
commercial exclusivity for such product in that country (wherein the commercial exclusivity refers to any remaining valid licensed patent claims covering
such licensed product, any remaining regulatory exclusivity to market and sell such licensed product or any remaining regulatory data exclusivity for such
licensed product), and (b) 10 years from the first commercial sale of such licensed product in such country.

The parties may terminate the agreement in the event the other party breaches its obligations therein, which termination shall become effective 60
business days following written notice thereof to the breaching party. The breaching party shall have the right to cure such breach or default during such 60
business days. OSR may terminate the agreement for failure to pay in the event that the Company fail to pay any of the upfront payment, additional license
fees, sublicensing income or milestone payments within 30 days of due dates for each. In addition, OSR may terminate (with a 60-business-day prior
written notice) the Company’s rights as to certain fields of use for the Company’s failure to achieve certain development milestones for specified licensed
products within certain time periods, which may be subject to extension. In addition, OSR may terminate the agreement in the event that commercialization
of a licensed product is not started within 24 months from the grant of both (i) the MAA approval and (ii) the pricing approval of such licensed product,
provided that such termination will relate solely to such licensed product and to such country or region to which both such MAA approval and pricing
approval were granted.

At June 30, 2023, the cumulative total amount of expenses for the OSR clinical trial activity from inception amounted to approximately €10.2
million and it includes the cost for the exercise of the first and the second solid cancer indication option fee of €1.0 million as well as the cost for ARLA
fees for €0.2 million.

At June 30, 2023, there were no pending activities with OSR related to any agreement in place prior to the ARLA effective date, except for the
project called “TEM-MM unspent budget reallocated to the TEM-GBM study”, for which the last tranche of activities corresponding to the 20% of the total
project amounting to €197,500, as a whole, is still to be completed.

Operating leases

The Company entered into a non-cancelable lease agreement for office space in January 2020. (See Note 13. Commitments and contingencies.)
13. Commitments and contingencies

The Company exercises considerable judgment in determining the exposure to risks and recognizing provisions or providing disclosure for
contingent liabilities related to pending litigations or other outstanding claims and liabilities. Judgment is necessary in assessing the likelihood that a
pending claim will succeed, or a liability will arise and to quantify the possible range of the final settlement. Provisions are recorded for liabilities when
losses are considered probable and can be reasonably estimated. Because of the inherent uncertainties in making such judgments, actual losses may be
different from the originally estimated provision. Estimates are subject to change as new information becomes available, primarily with the support of

internal specialists or outside consultants, such as actuaries or legal counsel. Adjustments to provisions may significantly affect future operating results.

The following table summarizes the Company obligations by contractual maturity on June 30, 2023:

Payments by Period
Less than a More than
(in Euros) Total year 1 to 3 years 4 to 5 years 5 years
OSR operating leases and office rent € 22,725 € 15,150 € 7,575 € - € -
OSR- ARLA 150,000 150,000 - - -
AGC manufacturing 128,390 87,240 41,150 - -
Insurance policies 18,091 6,996 11,095 - -

Total € 319,206 € 259,386 € 59,820 € = € =




The commitments with OSR relate to the office rent agreement and the ARLA while the commitments with AGC Biologics (“AGC”) relate to
product manufacturing and biologic stability studies on plasmid batches. Insurance on operating leases are related to the non-lease insurance component of
the Company’s auto lease agreement, which was entered into in February 2022 and has a term of four (4) years.

The Company has not included future milestones and royalty payments in the table above because the payment obligations under these agreements
are contingent upon future events, such as the Company’s achievement of specified milestones or generating product sales, and the amount, timing and
likelihood of such payments are unknown and are not yet considered probable.

CMOs and CROs agreements

The Company enters into contracts in the normal course of business with CMOs, CROs and other third parties for exploratory studies,
manufacturing, clinical trials, testing, and services (shipments, travel logistics, etc.). These contracts do not contain minimum purchase commitments and,
except as discussed below, are cancelable by the Company upon prior written notice. Payments due upon cancellation consist only of payments for services
provided or expenses incurred, including non-cancelable obligations of the Company’s vendors or third-party service providers, up to the date of
cancellation. These payments are not included in the table above as the amount and timing of such payments are not known.

OSR - San Raffaele Hospital

As part of the ARLA, the Company is obligated to carry out our development activities using qualified and experienced professionals and
sufficient level of resources. In particular, consistent with the terms of the Original OSR License Agreement, the ARLA continues to require us to invest (a)
at least €5,425,000 with respect to the development of the licensed products, and (b) at least €2,420,000 with respect to the manufacturing of such licensed
products (subject to certain adjustments).

The Company incurred €1.6 million and €0.8 million of expenses during the first six months ended June 30, 2023, and June 30, 2022, respectively.
The cumulative expense to date is €8.2 million, therefore there is no residual commitment for the Company at June 30, 2023.

The Company has agreed to pay OSR royalties for 4% of the net sales of each licensed product. The royalty may be reduced upon the introduction
of generic competition or patent stacking, but in no event would the royalty be less than half of what it would have otherwise been, but for the generic
competition or patent stacking. The Company also agreed to pay OSR a royalty of the Company’s net sublicensing income for each licensed product and to
pay OSR certain milestone payments upon the achievement of certain milestone events, such as the initiation of different phases of clinical trials of a
licensed product, market authorization application (“MAA”) approval by a major market country, MAA approval in the United States, the first commercial
sale of a licensed product in the United States and certain EU countries, and achievement of certain net sales levels.

No events have occurred or have been achieved (and none are considered probable) to trigger any contingent payments under the ARLA during
the six months ended June 30, 2023. For information relating to the contingency payments or future milestones for these indications, please refer to Note 13
- Commitments and Contingencies.

AGC Biologics (formerly MolMed)

The AGC agreement is non-cancelable, except in the case of breach of contract, and includes a potential milestone of €0.3 million if a phase 3
study is approved by the relevant authority, as well as potential royalty fees between 0.5% and 1.0% depending on the volume of annual net sales of the
first commercial and named patient sale of the product. In the AGC Agreement, the Company entrusts AGC with certain development activities that will
allow the Company to carry out activities related to its clinical research and manufacturing. The AGC agreement also includes a technology transfer fee of
€0.5 million related to the transfer of the manufacturing know-how and €1.0 million related to the marketability approval by regulatory authorities. The
agreement is a “pay-as-you-go” type arrangement with all services expensed in the period the services were performed.




In December 2021, the Company entered into Side Letter to the Framework Service Agreement with ACG Biologics to perform the manufacture
of one (1) additional GMP batch of 24L INFa LV vector (TIA-126 LV- the “LVV Batch”), in connection with the Study TEM-GBMO001, completed in the
first six months ended June 30, 2022, for a total amount of €311,280.

In March 2022, the Company entered into Side Letter to the Framework Service Agreement with ACG Biologics to perform the manufacture of
one (1) additional GMP batch of 24L INFa LV vector (TIA-126 LV) completed in November 2022, for €311,280.

In October 2022, the Company entered into Side Letter to the Master Service Agreement dated March 6, 2019 to negotiate a technology transfer
agreement regarding the transfer and implementation of the manufacturing process in the AGC facility located in Bresso, Italy, including timeline, budget
and the technology transfer protocol (the “Tech Transfer”) and AGC agreed with the Company to procure raw materials to be use under the Tech Transfer.

In December 2022, the Company signed respectively: (i) the Amendment No. 1 to the Master Service Agreement dated March 6, 2019 mainly to
update the definition of raw materials; and (ii) a Process Transfer Agreement to agree on producing the raw materials necessary for the performance of the
services related to the Tech Transfer for a total commitment of €405,000 for raw materials, € 40,500 for handling and €24,000 for the stability timepoints.
At June 30, 2023, the Company was committed to pay a total of €62,190 relating to activities that are expected to be realized in less than 1 year.

In January 2023, the Company entered into a new Development and Manufacturing Service Agreement providing the framework under which
AGC will provide services pursuant to one or more work statements to be entered into from time to time during the agreement term.

In February 2023, the Company entered into work statements Nos. 1 and 2 to produce LVV for ex-vivo application (TIA-126-LV) for an estimated
amount, including raw material and third party costs, of approximately €0.7 million and €1.5 million respectively.

Operating lease - office rent

On January 1, 2020, the Company began a six-year non-cancelable lease agreement for office space with OSR. Withdrawal is allowed from the
fourth year with a notice of 12 months. Since the annual rent amounts to €15,150, at June 30, 2023, outstanding minimum payments amount to €22,725
until December 2024.

Finance lease

On February 11, 2022, the Company entered a four (4) year auto lease. This lease has been recognized as a finance lease. The automobile
underling the lease agreement is fully covered by insurance policies for the duration of the lease agreement, for a total amount of €27,985. This insurance
policy is considered a non-lease component, since it represents services provided separately from the auto lease agreement. Therefore, it is accounted for in
insurance expense in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Loss when occurred. At June 30, 2023, the outstanding payments for
insurance expenses related to the automobile under lease amounted to approximately €18,000.

Legal proceedings

The Company is not currently party to any material legal proceedings. At each reporting date, the Company evaluates whether or not a potential
loss amount or a potential range of loss is probable and reasonably estimable under the provisions of ASC 450, Contingencies. The Company was notified
by Theravectys of the possible infringement by the Company of Theravectys’ exclusive license to patents no. EP 1071804, EP 1224314, and EP 1222300
granted from the owner of the patents Institut Pasteur. Each of these patents is now expired, having each reached the end of its patent term on April 23,
2019 for EP 1071804 and October 10, 2020 for EP 1224314, and EP 1222300. The Company considered the situation and determined that the likelihood of
a material adverse effect on its business is remote. To date, the Company has not engaged in any such discussions with Theravectys nor has the Company
received any further communication from Theravectys. The Company expenses, as incurred, the costs related to its legal proceedings, if any.

14. Subsequent events.
OSR Sponsor Research Agreement

On August 1, 2023, the Company entered into a Sponsored Research Agreement (“CP1 SRA”), which was contemplated under the ARLA, pursuant to
which the Company will fund feasibility studies for certain gene therapy products consisting of any lentiviral vectors regulated by miR126 and/or miR130
and/or other miRs with the same expression pattern as miR126 and miR130 in hematopoietic cells for the expression of IFN under the control of a Tie2
promoter, in combination with any immunotherapy (“Candidate Products 1”), along with three additional research projects, to be conducted at OSR. If OSR
determines that additional funds are needed, OSR will inform the Company and provide an estimate for completing the research. In August 2023, the
Company paid the first tranche under the CP1 SRA in the amount of €200,000.

During the period from the date of execution from the CP1 SRA until six months from the last report delivered to the Company under the CP1 SRA
(the “CP1 Option Period”), the Company has the exclusive option to include certain intellectual property related to Candidate Products 1 and Candidate
Products 1 as part of the licensed patents and licensed products under the ARLA. To exercise this option, the Company must pay an option exercise fee.
The Company also has the right to extend the CP1 Option Period twice for additional 24-month periods. The extension requires payment of an extension
fee for each 24-month extension.

Amendment to OSR Amended and Restated License Agreement

On September 28, 2023, the Company and OSR entered into an amendment to the ARLA, whereby the Company and OSR agreed that the Company
had fulfilled the obligations as set forth in the ARLA specific to Candidate Products 1 pursuant to the CP1 SRA. Furthermore, the amendment provides that
the Company and OSR have no further obligations to negotiate and execute a sponsored research agreement for the performance of feasibility studies
related to certain gene therapy products consisting of any lentiviral vectors regulated by miR126 and/or miR130 and/or other miRs with the same
expression pattern as miR126 and miR130 in hematopoietic cells for the expression of cytokines and their variants (other than IFN or in addition to IFN)
under the control of a Tie2 promoter, either alone or in combination with any immunotherapy (“Candidate Products 2”). Notwithstanding the removal of
the obligation to enter into a sponsor research agreement with regards to Candidate Products 2, OSR granted the Company an exclusive option, to be
exercised by sending written notice to OSR on or before September 30, 2025, to include certain intellectual property related to Candidate Products 2 and
Candidate Products 2 as part of the licensed patents and licensed products under the ARLA. The option fee and the Company’s fee to extend the option



period, if necessary, remain consistent with the prior fees to those costs reflected in the ARLA specific to Candidate Products 2. OSR will also have the
right to prepare, file and prosecute patents and patent applications with respect to the results of Candidate Products 2. The amendment provides that the
costs of the foregoing activities will be borne by the Company.




Exhibit 99.2
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and related notes included in Exhibit 99.1 to the
report on Form 6-K (the “Form 6-K”) to which this Exhibit 99.2 relates. This discussion and other parts of this Exhibit 99.2 and the Form 6-K may contain
forward-looking statements based upon current expectations that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results and the timing of selected events could
differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of several factors, including those set forth under “Risk Factors”
and elsewhere in our annual report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2022, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 21,
2023. References to “we,” “Genenta,” “us,” “our,” “the Company,” or “our company” herein are to Genenta Science S.p.A., including its subsidiaries.

Our reporting currency and functional currency is the Euro. Unless otherwise expressly stated or the context otherwise requires, references in this
Exhibit 99.2 to “dollars,” “USD” or “$” are to U.S. dollars, and references to “euros,” “EUR,” “Euros,” or “€” are to European Union euros.

Overview

We are a clinical-stage biotechnology company engaged in the development of hematopoietic stem cell gene therapies for the treatment of solid
tumors. We have developed a novel biologic platform which involves the ex-vivo gene transfer of a therapeutic candidate into autologous hematopoietic
stem/progenitor cells (HSPCs) to deliver immunomodulatory molecules directly to the tumor by infiltrating monocytes/macrophages (Tie2 Expressing
Monocytes - TEMs). Our technology is designed to turn TEMs, which normally have an affinity for and travel to tumors, into a “Trojan Horse” to
counteract cancer progression and prevent tumor relapse. Because our technology is not target dependent, we believe it can be used for treatment across a
broad variety of cancers.

Since our inception in 2014, we have devoted substantially all of our resources to organizing and staffing our Company, business planning, raising
capital, acquiring or discovering product candidates and securing related intellectual property rights, conducting discovery, research and development
activities for our programs and planning for eventual commercialization. We do not have any products approved for sale and have not generated any
revenue from product sales. To date, we have funded our operations with proceeds from the sales of equity securities, which through June 30, 2023,
aggregated gross cash proceeds of approximately €67.0 million.

We do not have any products approved for sale, have not generated any revenue from commercial sales of our product candidates, and have
incurred net losses each year since our inception. Our ability to generate product revenue sufficient to achieve profitability will depend heavily on the
successful development and eventual commercialization of one or more of our current or future product candidates and programs. Our net losses for the six
months ended June 30, 2023, and June 30, 2022 were approximately €6.8 million and approximately €2.1 million, respectively. As of June 30, 2023, and
December 31, 2022, we had an accumulated deficit of approximately €42.2 million and €35.5 million, respectively. Substantially all of our operating losses
resulted from costs incurred in connection with our research and development activities, including preclinical and clinical development of our gene therapy
product candidates, namely our leading product candidate Temferon, and from general and administrative costs associated with our operations.

We expect to continue to incur significant expenses for at least the next several years as we advance our product candidates from discovery
through preclinical development and clinical trials and seek regulatory approval of our product candidates. In addition, if we obtain marketing approval for
any of our product candidates, we expect to incur significant commercialization expenses related to product manufacturing, marketing, sales and
distribution. We may also incur expenses in connection with the in-licensing or acquisition of additional product candidates. Furthermore, we expect to
continue incurring additional costs associated with operating as a public company, including significant legal, accounting, investor relations and other
expenses.




As a result, for our long-term strategy, we will need substantial additional funding to support our continuing operations and pursue our growth
strategy. Until such time as we can generate significant revenue from product sales, if ever, we expect to finance our operations with proceeds from outside
sources, with most of such proceeds to be derived from sales of equity securities, including the net proceeds from our initial public offering (“IPO”) and
follow-on offerings. We also plan to pursue additional funding from outside sources, including but not limited to our entry into or expansion of new
borrowing arrangements; research and development incentive payments, government grants, pharmaceutical companies and other corporate sources; and
our entry into potential future collaboration agreements with pharmaceutical companies or other third parties for one or more of our programs. We may be
unable to raise additional funds or enter into such other agreements or arrangements when needed on favorable terms, or at all. If we fail to raise capital or
enter into such agreements as, and when, needed, we may have to significantly delay, scale back or discontinue the development and eventual
commercialization of one or more of our product candidates or delay our pursuit of potential in-licenses or acquisitions.

We are unable to predict the timing or amount of increased expenses or when or if we will be able to achieve or maintain profitability, mainly due
to the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with product development and related regulatory filings, which we expect to make in multiple
jurisdictions. When we are eventually able to generate product sales, those sales may not be sufficient to become profitable. If we fail to become profitable
or are unable to sustain profitability on a continuing basis, we may be unable to continue our operations at planned levels and be forced to reduce or
terminate our operations.

As of June 30, 2023, we had cash and cash equivalents of approximately €12.2 million and marketable securities of approximately €10.0 million.
We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities, as of June 30, 2023, will enable us to fund our operating expenses and
capital expenditure requirements for substantially more than the next twelve months. We have based this estimate on assumptions that may prove to be
wrong, and we could exhaust our available capital resources sooner than we expect. See “Liquidity and Capital Resources.” To finance our continuing
operations, we may need to raise additional capital, which cannot be assured.

COVID-19 Update

The global healthcare community continues to monitor and respond to the coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak, including its ongoing variants. In
February 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic commenced in Italy. Regulatory guidance was issued in March and updated in April 2020 relating to the
management of clinical trials during the pandemic. In May 2023, the World Health Organization determined that COVID-19 no longer fit the definition of a
public health emergency and the pandemic was officially over; however, as the global healthcare community continues to respond to COVID-19 and its
variants. COVID-19 remains a public health priority. Many hospitals, including our clinical sites, may temporarily pause elective medical procedures,
including dosing of new patients in clinical trials of our investigational gene therapies. While dosing of new patients and data collection from enrolled
patients has resumed at all clinical sites, the extent to which clinical activities will be delayed or interrupted will depend on future developments that are
highly uncertain. We have not experienced significant interruptions related to COVID-19. In the future, we may find it difficult to enroll patients in our
clinical trials, which could delay or prevent us from proceeding with the clinical trials of our product candidates. We continue to closely monitor this
evolving situation and the potential impact on us.

Components of Operating Results
Revenue

We have not generated any revenue since inception and do not expect to generate any revenue from the sale of products until we obtain regulatory
approval of, and commercialize, our product candidate(s).

Operating Expenses

Our current operating expenses consist of two components — research and development expenses, and general and administrative expenses.




Research and Development Expenses

We expense research and development costs as incurred. These expenses consist of costs incurred in connection with the development of our
product candidates, including:

e license fees and milestone payments incurred in connection with our license agreements;

e expenses incurred under agreements with contract research organizations, or CROs, contract manufacturing organizations, or CMOs, as well as
investigative sites and consultants that conduct our clinical trials, preclinical studies and other scientific development services;

e manufacturing scale-up expenses and the cost of acquiring and manufacturing preclinical and, in due course, clinical trial materials and
commercial materials, including manufacturing validation batches;

e employee-related expenses, including salaries, social security charges, related benefits, severance indemnity in case of termination of employees’
relationships, travel and stock-based compensation expense for employees engaged in research and development functions and consulting fees;

e  costs related to compliance with regulatory requirements; and
e facilities costs, depreciation and other expenses, which include rent and utilities.

Our research and development expenses are tracked on a program-by-program basis for our product candidates and consist primarily of external
costs, such as fees paid to outside consultants, CROs, CMOs, and central laboratories in connection with our preclinical development, process
development, manufacturing and clinical development activities. Our research and development expenses by program also include fees incurred under
license agreements, as well as option agreements with respect to licensing rights. We do not allocate employee costs or facility expenses, including
depreciation or other indirect costs, to specific programs because these costs are deployed across multiple programs and, as such, are not separately
classified. We primarily use internal resources to oversee research and discovery activities as well as for managing our preclinical development, process
development, manufacturing, and clinical development activities. These employees work across programs, and therefore, we do not track their costs by
program. We elected to present the research and development credit net of the related research and development expenditure on the consolidated statements
of operations and comprehensive loss. However, not all of our research and development expenses are allocated by program:

Six Months Ended June 30,

2023 2022
(in Euros) (Unaudited)
Direct research and development expenses by program:
TEM-GBM € 660,863 € 618,871
TEM -LT - 672
TEM-MM - 14,200
TEM-HC - (942)
Unallocated costs:
Personnel (including share-based compensation) 542,799 377,928
Consultants and other third parties 222,902 144,772
Materials & supplies 2,464,107 397,790
Travel Expenses 27,892 65,938
Other 3,239 21,350
Total research and development expenses € 3,921,802 € 1,640,579

Research and development activities are central to our business model. Product candidates in later stages of clinical development generally have
higher development costs than those in earlier stages of clinical development, primarily due to the increased size and duration of later-stage clinical trials.
We expect that our research and development expenses will increase substantially over the next several years, particularly as we increase personnel costs,
including stock-based compensation, contractor costs and facilities costs, as we continue to advance the development of our product candidates. We also
expect to incur additional expenses related to milestone and royalty payments payable to third parties with whom we have entered into license agreements
to acquire the rights to our product candidates.




The successful development and commercialization of our product candidates is highly uncertain. At this time, we cannot reasonably estimate or

know the nature, timing and costs of the efforts that will be necessary to complete the preclinical and clinical development of any of our product candidates
or when, if ever, material net cash inflows may commence from any of our product candidates. This uncertainty is due to the numerous risks and
uncertainties associated with product development and commercialization, including the uncertainty of:

the scope, progress, outcome and costs of our preclinical development activities, clinical trials and other research and development activities;
the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our preclinical development activities, clinical trials and other research and development activities;
establishing an appropriate safety profile with IND-enabling studies;

successful patient enrollment in, and the design, initiation and completion of, clinical trials;

the timing, receipt and terms of any marketing approvals from applicable regulatory authorities;

establishing and maintaining clinical and commercial manufacturing capabilities or making arrangements with third-party manufacturers;
development and timely delivery of commercial-grade drug formulations that can be used in our clinical trials and for commercial launch;
obtaining, maintaining, defending and enforcing patent claims and other intellectual property rights;

significant and changing government regulation;

qualifying for, and maintaining, adequate coverage and reimbursement by the government and other payors for any product candidate for which
we obtain marketing approval;

launching commercial sales of our product candidates, if and when approved, whether alone or in collaboration with others;
addressing any competing technological and market developments; and
maintaining a continued acceptable safety profile of the product candidates following approval.

We may never succeed in achieving regulatory approval for any of our product candidates. We may obtain unexpected results from our clinical

trials. We may elect, or be forced by regulatory authorities, to discontinue, delay or modify clinical trials of some product candidates or focus on others.
Any changes in the outcome of any of these variables with respect to the development of our product candidates in preclinical and clinical development
could mean a significant change in the costs and timing associated with the development of these product candidates. For example, if the European
Medicines Agency (EMA), U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) or another regulatory authority were to delay our planned start of clinical trials or
require us to conduct clinical trials or other testing beyond those that we currently expect, or if we experience significant delays in enrollment in or
treatment as part of any of our ongoing and planned clinical trials for any reason, including as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, we could be required to
expend significant additional financial resources and time on the completion of clinical development of that product candidate. Identifying potential
product candidates and conducting preclinical testing and clinical trials is a time-consuming, expensive and uncertain process that takes years to complete,
and we may never generate the necessary data or results required to obtain marketing approval and achieve product sales. In addition, our product
candidates, if approved, may not achieve commercial success.




General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and consulting fees, related benefits, travel, and stock-based compensation
expenses for personnel in executive, finance and administrative functions. General and administrative expenses also include professional fees for legal,
consulting, accounting, and audit services.

We anticipate that our general and administrative expenses will increase in the future as we increase our headcount to support our continued
research activities and development of our product candidates. We also anticipate that we will continue to incur additional accounting, audit, legal,
regulatory, compliance, directors and officers insurance costs as well as investor and public relations expenses associated with being a public company.
Additionally, when we believe a regulatory approval of a product candidate appears likely, we anticipate an increase in payroll and other expenses as a
result of our preparation for commercial operations, especially as it relates to the sales and marketing of our product candidate.

Other Income (Expense)
Other income (expense) consists primarily of interest income/(expense) and foreign exchange income/(loss).
Income taxes

We are subject to taxation in Italy and in the state of Delaware. Taxes are recorded on an accrual basis. They therefore represent the allowances for
taxes paid or to be paid for the year, calculated according to the current enacted rates and applicable laws. Due to the tax loss position reported, no income
taxes were due for the six months ended June 30, 2023, and June 30, 2022.

As of each reporting date, we consider existing evidence, both positive and negative, that could impact our view regarding future realization of
deferred tax assets. We believe that it is more likely than not that the benefit for deferred tax assets will not be realized. In recognition of this uncertainty, a
full valuation allowance was applied to the deferred tax assets. Future realization depends on our future earnings, if any, the timing, and amount of which
are uncertain as of June 30, 2023. In the future, should management conclude that it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets are partially or fully
realizable, the valuation allowance would be reduced to the extent of such expected realization and the amount would be recognized as a deferred income
tax benefit in our statements of operations.

There are open statutes of limitations for Italian tax authorities to audit our tax returns. There have been no material income tax-related interests or
penalties assessed or recorded.

There is no liability related to uncertain tax positions reported in our financial statements.

In line with the legislation in force until December 31, 2019, companies in Italy that invested in eligible research and development activities,
regardless of the legal form and economic sector in which they operate, could benefit from a tax credit up to 50% of the increase of annual research and
development expenses compared to the median expense for the years 2012-2014, which could be used as compensation in order to reduce most taxes
payable, including income tax or regional tax on productive activities, as well as of social security contributions.

The 2020 Italian Budget Law established that: (i) the tax credit due is up to 12% of the research and development costs incurred (up to a maximum
of € 3.0 million); (ii) the actual support of eligible expenditure and its correspondence with the accounting documents must result from a specific
certification issued by the person responsible for the legal audit; (iii) the tax credit due can only be used as compensation in three equal annual installments.
The 2021 Italian Budget Law established that: (i) the tax credit due is up to 20% of the costs incurred (up to a maximum of € 4.0 million); (ii) the tax credit
can be used for 2021 and 2022 fiscal years; (iii) it is necessary to have, besides the audit report, a technical report. The 2022 Italian Budget Law extended
the measure up to the tax period of December 31, 2031; however, from January 2023, the tax credit rate was decreased to 10% of the eligible expenses, and
the annual ceiling of the credit increased to €5.0 million.




Results of Operations
Comparison of the Six Months Ended June 30, 2023 to the Six Months Ended June 2022

The following table summarizes our results of operations for the six months ended June 30, 2023, and June 30, 2022:

Six Months Ended June 30,
2023 2022
(Unaudited)

Operating expenses

Research and development € 3,921,802 € 1,640,579

General and administrative 2,878,373 2,513,558
Total operating expenses 6,800,175 4,154,137
Loss from operations (6,800,175) (4,154,137)
Other income (expense)

Other income 114,992 215,486

Finance income (expense) 77,999 -

Unrealized exchange rate gain (loss) (152,041) 1,826,330
Total other income (expense) 40,950 2,041,816
Loss before income taxes (6,759,225) (2,112,321)
Income taxes benefit (expenses) - -
Net loss (6,759,225) (2,112,321)
Net loss and comprehensive loss € (6,759,225) € (2,112,321)
Loss per share:
Loss € (6,759,225) € (2,112,321)
Loss per share — basic € 037) € (0.12)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding — basic 18,216,858 18,216,858

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses were approximately €3.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023, as compared to approximately €1.6
million for the six months ended June 30, 2022. The increase was mainly due to LVV (Lentiviral Vector for Gene therapy) production activities and
preclinical and clinical activities at the OSR - San Raffaele Hospital in Milan. The increase in production activities related to the increase in the number of
patients enrolled, the preparation of Phase II involving plasmid, cell banks production and the cost of the manufacturing site transfer to a new location in
Italy, as well as an increase in management compensation.

During the six months ended June 30, 2023, and June 30, 2022, we accrued an R&D tax credit benefit of approximately €0.2 million and €0.4
million, respectively. During the first six months ended June 30, 2023, and June 30, 2022, we utilized €0.4 million and €0.7 million, respectively, of R&D
tax credit benefit to offset research and development expenses. The offsetting effect decrease was primarily due to the R&D tax rate reduction from 20% to
10% of the eligible expenses, starting from January 2023, as provided by the 2022 Italian Budget Law.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses were approximately €2.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023, as compared to approximately €2.5
million for the six months ended June 30, 2022. The increase was primarily due to an increase in management compensation and other professional fees,
especially legal fees related to our $30.0 million at-the-market offering of ordinary shares in the form of ADSs (“ATM offering”) partially offset by the
decrease in insurance costs related to our directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policy.




Other Income

Other income mainly relates to financial interest from short-term liquidity investments. It was approximately €0.1 million for the six months ended
June 30, 2023, compared to €0.2 for the six months ended June 30, 2022. The decrease was primarily because in the six months ended June 30, 2022, we
accrued approximately €0.2 million of a one-time tax benefit related to the increase in corporate equity that followed the IPO.

Foreign Exchange Gains

For the first six months ended June 30, 2023, the foreign exchange net loss was approximately €0.2 million, while for the six months ended June
30, 2022, we recorded a net foreign exchange gain of approximately €1.8 million. The decrease in exchange rate net effect was due to the weakening of the
U.S. dollar against the Euro in the six months ended June 30, 2023.

Net loss

Our net loss was approximately €6.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023, as compared to approximately €2.1 million for the six
months ended June 30, 2022. The increase in our loss of approximately €4.7 million was primarily due to the negative effect of the USD versus Euro
exchange rate fluctuation, the increase in our overall research and development spending and the increase in professional fees, especially legal fees, for the
ATM offering.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Overview

Since inception, we have not generated any revenue and have incurred significant operating losses and negative cash flows from our operations.
We have funded our operations to date primarily with proceeds from the sales of quotas, in prior years as an S.r.l., and through our IPO, of our shares as an
S.p.A. We received gross cash proceeds of approximately €33.6 million from sales of quotas (pre-IPO) and approximately €32.7 million of gross proceeds
from the IPO. As of June 30, 2023, we had approximately €12.2 million in cash and cash equivalents and €10.0 million in marketable securities maturing

short term.

The table below presents our cash flows for the periods indicated:

Six Months Ended June 30,
(Unaudited)

(in Euros) 2023 2022

Net cash used in operating activities € (7,580,129) € (2,566,193)
Net cash used in investing activities (10,001,467) -
Net increase (Net decrease) in cash and cash equivalents € (17,581,596) € (2,569,006)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 29,794,856 37,240,162
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period € 12,213,260 € 34,671,156

Operating Activities

During the six months ended June 30, 2023, and June 30, 2022, operating activities used approximately €7.6 million and €2.6 million,
respectively, of cash and cash equivalents, resulting mainly from our loss during the period. The net change in our operating assets and liabilities was
primarily due to the increase in payments to third party vendors for manufacturing activities due to the increase in patient enrollment and Phase II
preparation. The non-cash charges primarily included approximately €0.4 million of stock-based compensation expense and other minor amounts of
depreciation and retirement benefit obligation expense. The increase in retirement benefit obligation expense was mainly due to employee compensation as
a consequence of performance bonuses paid in March 2023.




Investing Activities

During the six months ended June 30, 2023, we invested approximately €10.0 million in marketable securities related to Italian Government
Bonds with short term maturities and with an expected gross yield-to-maturity of approximately 3.1%.

Financing Activities
During the six months ended June 30, 2023, and June 30, 2022, there was no cash flow from financing activities.
Current Outlook
To date, we have not generated revenue and do not expect to generate significant revenue from the sale of any product candidate in the near future.

As of June 30, 2023, our cash and cash equivalents were approximately €12.2 million. Our primary cash obligations relate to payments to OSR
pursuant to our amended and restated license agreement and other providers of clinical trial related services.

Based on our planned use of the net proceeds from our IPO and our existing cash, we estimate that such funds will be sufficient to fund our
operations and capital expenditure requirements through the first quarter of 2025. We have based this estimate on assumptions that may prove to be wrong,

and we could use our available capital resources sooner than we currently expect.

In addition, our operating plans may change as a result of many factors that may currently be unknown to us, and we may need to seek additional
funds sooner than planned. Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including:

e the progress and costs of our preclinical studies, clinical trials and other research and development activities;

e the scope, prioritization and number of our clinical trials and other research and development programs;

e any cost that we may incur under in- and out-licensing arrangements relating to our product candidate that we may enter into in the future;
e the costs and timing of obtaining regulatory approval for our product candidates;

e the costs of filing, prosecuting, enforcing and defending patent claims and other intellectual property rights;

e the costs of, and timing for, amending current manufacturing agreements for production of sufficient clinical and commercial quantities of our
product candidates, or entering into new agreements with existing or new contract manufacturing organizations (CMOs);

e the potential costs of contracting with third parties to provide marketing and distribution services for us or for building such capacities
internally; and

e the costs of acquiring or undertaking the development and commercialization efforts for additional, future therapeutic applications of our
product candidates and the magnitude of our general and administrative expenses.

Until we can generate significant revenues, if ever, we expect to satisfy our future cash needs through our existing cash, cash equivalents, short-
term deposits and short-term marketable securities.




We cannot be certain that additional funding will be available to us on acceptable terms, if at all. If funds are not available, we may be required to
delay, reduce the scope of, or eliminate research or development plans for, or commercialization efforts with respect to, one or more applications of our
product candidates.

This expected use of cash and cash equivalents represents our intentions based upon our current plans and business conditions, which could
change in the future as our plans and business conditions evolve. We may also use a portion of the available cash and cash equivalents to in-license,
acquire, or invest in additional businesses, technologies, products, or assets.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States. The preparation of our
financial statements and related disclosures requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, costs and
expenses, and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities in our financial statements. We base our estimates on historical experience, known trends
and events and various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments
about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. We evaluate our estimates and assumptions on an
ongoing basis. Our actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

We believe that the accounting policies described below are critical in order to understand the judgements and estimates used in the financial
statements and to fully understand and evaluate our financial condition and results of operations.

Accrued Research and Development Expenses

As part of the process of preparing our financial statements, we are required to estimate our accrued research and development expenses. This
process involves reviewing open contracts and purchase orders, communicating with our personnel to identify services that have been performed on our
behalf and estimating the level of service performed and the associated cost incurred for the service when we have not yet been invoiced or otherwise
notified of actual costs. The majority of our service providers invoice us in arrears for services performed, on a pre-determined schedule or when
contractual milestones are met; however, some require advanced payments. We make estimates of our accrued expenses as of each balance sheet date in the
financial statements based on facts and circumstances known to us at that time. We periodically confirm the accuracy of these estimates with the service
providers and make adjustments, if necessary. Examples of estimated accrued research and development expenses include fees paid to:

e vendors, including central laboratories, in connection with preclinical development activities, especially, OSR, a co-founding shareholder,
significant related party vendor and a leading center for ex-vivo gene therapy for inherited diseases;

e contract research organizations (CROs) and investigative sites in connection with preclinical and clinical studies; and
e (CMOs in connection with drug substance and drug product formulation of preclinical and clinical trial materials.

We base our expenses related to preclinical studies and clinical trials on our estimates of the services received and efforts expended pursuant to
quotes and contracts with multiple research institutions and CROs that conduct and manage preclinical studies and clinical trials on our behalf. The
financial terms of these agreements are subject to negotiation, vary from contract to contract and may result in uneven payment flows. There may be
instances in which payments made to our vendors will exceed the level of services provided and result in a prepayment of the expense. Payments under
some of these contracts depend on factors such as the successful enrollment of patients and the completion of clinical trial milestones. In accruing service
fees, we estimate the time period over which services will be performed and the level of effort to be expended in each period. If the actual timing of the
performance of services or the level of effort varies from the estimate, we adjust the accrual or the amount of prepaid expenses accordingly. Although we
do not expect our estimates to be materially different from amounts actually incurred, our understanding of the status and timing of services performed
relative to the actual status and timing of services performed may vary and may result in reporting amounts that are too high or too low in any particular
period. To date, there have not been any material adjustments to our prior estimates of accrued research and development expenses.




Share-based compensation

To reward the efforts of employees, directors, and certain consultants to promote our growth, the Board has historically approved, during its
existence, various share-based awards.

On May 20, 2021, the Board approved the general terms (e.g., regulation) of our 2021 — 2025 Equity Incentive Plan (“Plan”). Under Italian law,
there is no need to obtain the approval of the specific terms of our equity incentive grants from our shareholders. The number of stock options available are
determined by our shareholders by vote at an annual or special meeting of shareholders. Currently, we have options on 1,821,685 shares (i.e., 10% of the
number of shares outstanding, which are currently 18,216,858 shares outstanding); however, at the quotaholders’ meeting held on May 20, 2021, the
quotaholders approved a paid share capital increase to service the Plan, up to a maximum amount of €27,000,000, through the issue of a maximum of
2,700,000 new ordinary shares (and in any case within the limit of 10% of the number of shares in circulation at the time of issue). Therefore, as we raise
additional capital and the number of issued and outstanding shares grows, the Board has authority to issue shares in the range from 1,821,685 to 2,700,000,
i.e., we do not have to obtain further authorization from shareholders to increase the number of shares available for equity grants until the outstanding
shares exceed 27,000,000.

In April 2022, our Board of Directors (“Board”) (i.e., the administrator of our 2021 — 2025 Equity Incentive Plan) granted nonqualified stock
options (“NSOs”) to Dr. Stephen Squinto, our Chairman of the Board at the time. Those options were priced based on a sub-plan called “2021-2025
Chairman Sub-Plan” attached to the Plan. The cost or expense of the stock options to us is based on the Black Scholes method.

In July 2022, our Board awarded NSOs on 392,740 shares to certain of our directors and employees.
In March 2023, our Board awarded NSOs on 46,400 shares to certain of our directors.

In June 2023, our shareholders modified our Plan to extend the final deadline for the issuance of the ordinary shares until December 31, 2035, in
order to allow that all stock options granted during the term of the Plan could provide for an exercise period of 10 years starting from the date of grant.

We measure share-based awards granted to employees and directors based on the fair value on the date of the grant and recognize compensation
expense for those awards over the requisite service period, which is the vesting period of the respective award. Forfeitures are accounted for as they occur.
The measurement date for option awards is the date of the grant. We classify share-based compensation expense in our Statements of Operations and
Comprehensive Loss in the same manner in which the award recipient’s payroll costs are classified or in which the award recipient’s service payments are
classified.

With the adoption of Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2018-07, Compensation—Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to
Nonemployee Share-Based Payment Accounting (“ASU 2018-07”) on January 1, 2019, the measurement date for non-employee awards is the date of the
grant. The compensation expense for non-employees is recognized, without changes in the fair value of the award, over the requisite service period, which
is the vesting period of the respective award.

Research and development tax credit receivables

We account for our research and development tax credit receivable in accordance with IAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure
of Government Assistance. The receivable is recognized when there is reasonable assurance that: (1) the recipient will comply with the relevant conditions
and (2) the grant will be received. We elected to present the credit net of the related expenditure on the statements of operations and comprehensive loss.
While these tax credits can be carried forward indefinitely, we recognize an amount that reflects management’s best estimate of the amount reasonably
assured to be realized or utilized in the foreseeable future based on historical benefits realized, adjusted for expected changes, as applicable.




Emerging Growth Company Status

We are an “emerging growth company.” Under the JOBS Act, an emerging growth company can delay adopting new or revised accounting
standards issued subsequent to the enactment of the JOBS Act until such time as those standards apply to private companies. We have irrevocably elected
to avail ourselves of this exemption from new or revised accounting standards, and, therefore, will not be subject to the same new or revised accounting
standards as public companies that are not emerging growth companies.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have not engaged in any off-balance sheet arrangements, such as the use of unconsolidated subsidiaries, structured finance, special purpose
entities or variable interest entities.

We do not believe that our off-balance sheet arrangements and commitments have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on our
financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources that is
material to investors.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk

We are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business. Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our financial
position due to adverse changes in financial market prices and rates. Our current investment policy is to invest available cash in bank deposits with banks
that have a credit rating of at least A-. Accordingly, a substantial majority of our cash and cash equivalents is held in deposits that bear interest. Given the
current low rates of interest we receive, we will not be adversely affected if such rates are reduced. Our market risk exposure is primarily a result of foreign
currency exchange rates, which is discussed in detail in the following paragraph.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

Our results of operations and cash flow can be subject to significant fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, which could
adversely impact our results of operations. Our functional currency is the Euro. Exposure to foreign currently exchange risk is derived from transactions
between Genenta Science S.p.A. and Genenta Science, Inc., its U.S. subsidiary, for which the functional currency is the US dollar, as well as transactions
with suppliers outside the euro zone.

The following table shows the impact of up to a 10% increase in the exchange rate between the Euro and the US dollar. A deterioration of the US
dollar versus the 1.08458 closing rate at June 30, 2023 could impact the expenses as follows:

At June 30, 2023 Sensitivity
USD EUR +1% +5% +10%
USD Expenses $ 1,908,226 € 1,760,160 € (17,427) € (83,817) € (160,015)

We do not hedge our foreign currency exchange risk. In the future, we may enter into formal currency hedging transactions to decrease the risk of
financial exposure from fluctuations in the exchange rates of our principal operating currencies. These measures, however, may not adequately protect us
from the material adverse effects of such fluctuations.

Other Events
OSR Sponsor Research Agreement

On August 1, 2023, we entered into a Sponsored Research Agreement (the “CP1 SRA”) with OSR to fund feasibility studies for certain gene
therapy products consisting of any lentiviral vectors regulated by miR126 and/or miR130 and/or other miRs with the same expression pattern as miR126
and miR130 in hematopoietic cells for the expression of IFN under the control of a Tie2 promoter, in combination with any immunotherapy (“Candidate
Products 1”), along with three additional research products, to be conducted at OSR. If OSR determines that additional funds are needed, OSR will inform
us and provide an estimate for completing the research. In August 2023, we paid the first tranche under the CP1 SRA in the amount of €200,000.

Amendment to OSR Amended and Restated License Agreement (“ARLA”)

On September 28, 2023, we entered into an amendment to the ARLA with OSR, whereby OSR agreed that we have fulfilled the obligations as set
forth in the ARLA specific to Candidate Products 1 pursuant to the CP1 SRA. Furthermore, the amendment provides that we have no further obligations
with OSR to negotiate and execute a sponsored research agreement for the performance of feasibility studies related to certain gene therapy products
consisting of any lentiviral vectors regulated by miR126 and/or miR130 and/or other miRs with the same expression pattern as miR126 and miR130 in
hematopoietic cells for the expression of cytokines and their variants (other than IFN or in addition to IFN) under the control of a Tie2 promoter, either
alone or in combination with any immunotherapy (“Candidate Products 2”).

For a further description of the CP1 SRA and the amendment to the ARLA, see Note 14, Subsequent events, to our financial statements included
in Exhibit 99.1 to the Form 6-K.




